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December 15, 2023

The Honorable Dr. Michelle Rief and 
Members of the Alexandria City School Board and
Citizens of the City of Alexandria, Virginia:

We are pleased to submit the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (the 
Financial Report) of the Alexandria City Public Schools (ACPS or The Board) for 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. It has been prepared in accordance with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applicable to local 
government entities. Responsibility for the accuracy of the data and the 
completeness and fairness of presentation, including all disclosures, rests with 
management. To the best of our knowledge and belief, the enclosed data is accurate 
in all material respects and is reported in a manner designed to fairly present the 
financial position as well as the financial condition of ACPS for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2023. ACPS is considered a component unit of the City of 
Alexandria, Virginia (City) and, accordingly, the financial position and results of 
operations of ACPS are also reflected in the financial statements included in the 

Financial Report. 

the Virginia Auditor of Public Accounts or a firm of independent Certified Public 
Accountants. The Code of Virginia (Section 15.2-2510) requires ACPS to submit 
its audit report to the Auditor of Public Accounts by November 30 of each year; 
which was extended to December 15, 2023. This document will be submitted in 
fulfillment of this requirement. An audit was also conducted to meet the 
requirements of the Federal Single Audit Act Amendment of 1996 and related 
Office of Management and Budget Uniform Grant Guidance.

nAllen LLP. The goal of 
the independent audit was to provide reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements of ACPS for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, are free of material 
misstatement. The independent audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements; assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management; and 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. The independent auditor 
concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an 
unmodified opinion that the ACPS financial statements for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2023, are fairly presented in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP).
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The independent audit of the financial statements of the school division was part of 

of federal grantor agencies. The standards governing Single Audit engagements 
require the independent auditors to report not only on the fair presentation of the 

compliance with legal requirements, with special emphasis on internal control and 
legal requirements involving the administration of federal awards. The independent 

Financial Report. 
 
The report is intended to present a comprehensive summary of significant financial 
data to meet the needs of citizens, taxpayers, financial institutions and the Board. 
GAAP requires that management provides a narrative introduction, overview, and 

Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to 
complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it.  
 
Profile of the Alexandria City Public Schools 
 
Alexandria City Public Schools is a school division located within and serving the 
residents of the City of Alexandria. 
  
The City is located on the west bank of the Potomac River across from 
Washington, D.C., and was established in 1749 by an Act of the Virginia General 
Assembly. The City is autonomous from any county, town or other political 
subdivision of the Commonwealth of Virginia. It has a total area of 15.48 square 
miles and an estimated population of approximately 159,400 according to the US 
Census Bureau.  
 
The City is a primary government that is financially accountable for a legally 
separate entity, the School Board of the City of Alexandria (Board).  The Board is 
the elected body established under Virginia law to provide public education from 
pre-kindergarten through twelfth grade to children residing within the City of 
Alexandria, Virginia. The Board consists of nine members who each serve a three-
year term. The Board members elect one member to serve as Chair of the Board 
and a second member to serve as Vice-Chair of the Board. 
 
The Board determines educational policy and employs a superintendent of schools 
to administer the school division. The Board has no power to levy or collect taxes 
or increase the City appropriation. Because of its relationship with the City, it is 
considered a component unit of the City, as defined by GAAP. ACPS has no 
component units for financial reporting purposes. 
 
ACPS ranks 16th in enrollment of the 132 school divisions in the Commonwealth of 
Virginia and is in close proximity to the three largest Virginia school divisions 
(Fairfax, Prince William, and Loudoun County Public Schools). It has a vibrant 
multicultural community, and students reflect an even broader diversity than that of 
the City. ACPS serves a diverse student population, with students who come from 
more than 119 different countries, speak more than 124 native languages, and 



 

 

represent a myriad of cultural and socioeconomic groups. The chart below 
illustrates this rich diversity compared to neighboring school divisions. 
 
 

 
 
Prior to the 2022-23 school year, ACPS experienced enrollment increases over the 
prior seven years and expected this growth trend to continue into the coming school 
years. For the 2022-2023 school year, ACPS experienced an increase of 260 
students, a total student enrollment of 15,786, compared to the prior school year. 
Enrollment for the 2023-24 school year is projected at 15,847 students, an 
estimated increase of 0.4 percent. 

 
Currently, the school division operates one high school with four campuses (a 9th 
grade campus - Minnie Howard, a campus for grades 10-12 - King Street, a campus 
for flexible online learning - Satellite, and a campus for alternative education - 
Chance for Change Academy), two middle schools (grades 6  8), one K  8 
school, one pre-K - 8 school and eleven elementary schools (grades pre-K  5). 
ACPS also operates the Northern Virginia Juvenile Detention Center School and 
the Early Childhood Center. 
 
Most of ACPS school bui
2023, four of the 18 ACPS facilities will be older than 75 years. This includes 
Mount Vernon, Naomi L. Brooks and George Mason elementary schools, and 
George Washington Middle School. Over the next 20 years, an additional seven 
schools will reach 75 years or more.  This underlines our concern for maintenance 
and replacement of our aged systems and infrastructure. Construction on the new 



 

 

Douglas MacArthur Elementary School was completed for the 2023-24 school 
year.
 
Local Economic Outlook and Long-term Financial Planning  
 
Since 2009, the Greater Metropolitan Washington DC area economic performance 
continues to show improvement in increased real estate listings and sales prices. 
The City of Alexandria and Northern Virginia usually outperform the rest of the 

-year estimate data, 
the unemployment rate, population 16 years and over, for the City and the 
Commonwealth are 2.4 percent and 2.8 percent, respectively. These rates continue 
to be lower than the average national unemployment rate of 3.4 percent. 
 

revenues, have continued to grow. Residential tax revenue increased by 4.5 percent 
compared to 2022, while commercial multi-family tax revenue increased by 6.8 
percent.  
                                                                  
ACPS is funded from local, state, and federal resources. State and City funds are 
the two largest sources of revenue and represent approximately 99.6 percent of total 
General Fund revenues. ACPS does not have the authority to levy taxes to directly 
support education; as such the school division is fiscally dependent on the City. 
State revenues are determined based on Average Daily Membership (ADM) and 

Significant funding is also received from federal grants. 
 
Each year, ACPS staff develops and presents a five-year fiscal forecast with 
varying revenue and expenditure assumptions to facilitate informed decision-
making as a part of the budget process. With approximately 80 percent of General 
Fund revenue derived from the City appropriation, assumptions regarding the 

appropriation can drive forecast results. Similarly, for budgeted expenditures, 
salaries and benefits comprise approximately 88 percent of total General Fund 
expenditures. Additionally, assumptions related to salary increases, as well as the 
growth of healthcare and retirement costs, can drive forecast results. The most 
recent forecast shows that the school division will face funding shortfalls that range 
from approximately $12.0 million for FY 2024 to over $37.8 million by FY 2028. 
Under the Code of Virginia, School Boards are required to adopt a balanced budget 
which means the projected revenues plus beginning fund balance must fully cover 
the total estimated expenditures. As a result, the school board and division 
leadership are analyzing various strategies to increase revenue and reduce costs, 
while maximizing overall efficiency to ensure structural deficits do not continue.            
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Major Initiatives and Highlights

New Division Superintendent Appointment 
The School Board officially announced Dr. Melanie Kay-Wyatt as the new 
permanent superintendent for ACPS in May 2023. Dr. Kay-Wyatt was selected 
from a national search process led by a nationally-recognized executive search 
firm. She led the division as the ACPS interim superintendent starting Sept. 1, 
2022, and was appointed to the role of permanent superintendent, effective July 1, 
2023, with a four-year contract that extends through June 30,2027. Dr. Kay-Wyatt 
is the first Black female permanent superintendent of ACPS. 
 
ACPS-George Washington University Partnership for Teacher Recruitment 
ACPS launched an innovative partnership with The George Washington 
Univer
expand the number of special education instructional assistants and teachers who 
serve ACPS pre-K-12 students in its 18 schools. Individuals are able to apply at the 
same time to both the GW 
in their first year of the program, graduate students will work as ACPS instructional 
assistants to develop key instructional strategies, learn best practices and receive 
targeted professional learning from both ACPS and GW teams. They will then have 
the opportunity to move into teacher roles for their second year in the program. 
ACPS has committed to offering $800 in funding to each program participant to aid 
in tuition costs on an annual basis. An Informational event was held in February 
2023 and applications were made available on the ACPS website. The program is 

school division with highly qualified candidates. 
 
Successful migration and launch of Finalsite-supported new ACPS Website 

were successfully upgraded and migrated to a Finalsite-supported platform at its 
soft launch in July 2022. A new look was debuted that features a forward-looking 
design and easy to navigate structure to improve the communications experience 
for all stakeholders. With its renewed focus on our students and staff, it reflects and 
strengthens the school division brand. Aligned with the tenets of the ACPS Equity 
for All Strategic Plan, the new website provides high-quality automated translations 
that allow for greater accuracy and more current information online. The redesign 
also ensures all content is compliant with Americans with Disabilities accessibility 
guidelines. The official introduction of the new website at the start of the 2022-23 
school year offered visually appealing and stylistically aligned materials aimed at 
enhancing content quality, accessibility and user experience. Its aesthetics and 
functionality, defined by internal and external advisory group feedback, will be 
shaped by ACPS stories in multimedia formats highlighting students, staff and 
programs. As a key component of the 2021-25 ACPS Strategic Communications 
and Community Engagement Plan, the user-friendly website redesign supports 
intuitive navigation and access to accurate, relevant and timely communications 
and engagement from each school to families, students and staff to foster stronger 
relationships. 
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Rollout of mass communications platform ParentSquare across ACPS division
In 2022-23, ACPS launched a new mass communications platform to encourage a 
stronger school to home connection. ParentSquare, a unified app for school 
communications, allows families to receive announcements from the division and 
their schools and teachers in one place, with the added ability to engage in two-way 
communication in the preferred language through text messages, conference 
scheduling and sign-ups. Resources such as language specific instructional videos 
and onsite training sessions have been facilitated by staff and made available to 

 
features which streamline communications and help empower everyone within the 
school community to stay connected and informed. 
 
Advancing Capital Planning and Operational Initiatives 
Completed construction of new Douglas MacArthur Elementary School-  
modernization program moves forward, the Douglas MacArthur Elementary School 
project was completed on time and a ribbon cutting ceremony was held on Aug. 18, 
2023. This $75 million project was funded through the adopted Capital 
Improvement Program budget in Fiscal Years 2021 and 2022. With these funds 
received from the City of Alexandria, this new building offers a modern and 
innovative space where students can learn and grow and staff can teach and thrive. 
Built on the site of the original building, which first opened in 1943, the new 
facility features dedicated space for classrooms, art and music rooms, physical 
education and a multipurpose room. The design also includes turf fields and play 
areas. This three-story structure is energy efficient and its Forest Design concept 
provides more natural light to classrooms which is critical for providing welcoming 
learning environments for students. There are handicap-accessible restrooms 
throughout the building, closer to classrooms, while allowing for student privacy. 
The new Douglas MacArthur Elementary School was developed with the foresight 
to accommodate area growth and has classroom space for up to 825 students in 
grades PreK-5. This state-of-the-art facility opened for daily use by students and 
staff on Aug. 21, 2023, for the first day of school year 2023-24. 
 
Ongoing work on The High School Project 
The topping-
(ACHS) new Minnie Howard campus served as a major milestone. On April 26, 
2023 the final beam was signed by school and community leaders and a crane 
positioned the beam in the top corner of the building. The new Minnie Howard 
campus is part of The High School Project and the ACPS Office of Capital 
Programs, Planning and Design has been instrumental in moving it forward. 
Gilbane Building Company, leading Minnie Howard redevelopment project 
construction efforts, calls the structure a 21st-century state-of-the-art net-zero 
building. This project is designed to address the challenges of growing student 
enrollment while meeting future business needs of the D.C. metro region. Minnie 
Howard Campus construction initially got underway in April of 2022 and is a key 

 upgrade 
facilities. The new building is scheduled to be opened for the 2024-25 school year. 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Academic Highlights for School Year 2022-23
 Number of Graduates and Scholarships Awarded - ACHS awarded diplomas to 

946 students at its June 3, 2023, commencement ceremony and summer graduation 
event. More than 600 graduates reported applying to a college or university and 16 
graduates planned to serve in the U.S. military. The Scholarship Fund of 
Alexandria awarded scholarships to 208 students totaling $627,000, many of which 
are renewable throughout four years of study. Ten students received an Akerson 
Scholarship of $10,000 per year, renewable for four years. Four students won a 
Project Discovery Scholarship, each receiving $5,000. Twenty Titan athletes signed 
letters of intent to compete in collegiate athletics in 10 sports. There were 419 
seniors (43% of the class) who graduated with an Advanced Studies Diploma. 
 

 Preliminary Standards of Learning Results - Virginia Department of Education 
(VDOE) reported increases in division performance in 2022-23 annual Standards of 
Learning (SOL) student pass rates in the areas of Mathematics, Science, Writing 
and History/Social Sciences and a consistent pass rate in Reading, when compared 
to the previous school year. 
 

 Highlights of the federally adjusted school, division and state pass rates by 
grade, content area and student group indicate: 
 

Results by student groups showed performance increased across all 
accountability student groups in Mathematics and across most student groups in 
Science when compared to the previous year, narrowing historic gaps in 
achievement. 
In Reading, Writing, and History/Social Sciences, the pass rates for most 
student groups were within two percentage points of the previous school year, 
with few exceptions. 
Tremendous gains were seen at the school level, with four schools increasing 
Mathematics pass rates by 10 percentage points or more and five schools 
increasing Science pass rates by 14 percentage points or more compared to the 
previous year. 
ACPS division wide, federally adjusted SOL pass rates reported by VDOE for 
the 2022-23 school year: 

 
Mathematics: 53%; +4 percentage points 
Reading: 60%; -1 percentage point 
Science: 52%; +3 percentage points 
Writing: 65%; +3 percentage points 
History/Social Sciences: 56%; +2 percentage points 
 

 SEAL Supports for Students - During the 2022-23 school year, ACPS provided 
30-minutes of social, emotional and academic learning (SEAL) each day. This 
learning support helps students with relationship-building skills, responsible 
decision- making, self-awareness, self-management and social awareness. SEAL 
became instrumental in assisting students to adjust to school life during the 
pandemic and its benefits continue. 
 



 

 

Cora Kelly School for Math, Science and Technology (Cora Kelly) was among 
several schools nationwide to be featured in a series of articles in USA Today 
that took a closer look at what an American school day looks like post-COVID, 
and addressed learning loss and attendance concerns. This USA Today series 
also included how Cora Kelly third graders were tested during their first, in-
person school year after the pandemic. It featured lessons learned as its young 
students navigated from in-person to hybrid, to virtual learning and back. 

 
Spotlighting Family Engagement and Communication Highlights 
 

 Grand opening of FACE Center - A ribbon-cutting for the new Family and 
Community Engagement (FACE) Center for ACPS was held on Nov. 29, 2022. 
Located on the sixth floor of Ferdinand T. Day Elementary School, the FACE 

 families in opportunities designed to support their 
-emotional development in a healthy and respectful 

manner which, in turn, serves to increase two-way communication and cultural 
understanding. The center assists by providing language specific and bilingual 
family liaisons to serve our Amharic, Arabic, Dari and Spanish speaking families. 
The FACE Center serves as the home base for ACPS family liaisons as they help 

 work with families 
and the community. At the FACE Center, needed resources are also provided to all 
ACPS families, along with workshops and other activities that support educational 
achievement and overall quality of life. 
 

 National awards for outstanding work in school communications - ACPS 
Department of School &amp; Community Relations (SCR) received 15 national 
awards from the National School Public Relations Association (NSPRA) for its 
outstanding work in sharing stories from our schools while strengthening our 

 students, staff and families. The 
SCR team received three NSPRA 2023 Golden Achievement Awards and 12 
NSPRA 2023 Publications and Digital Media Awards. 
 
Financial Information 
 
ACPS ended the fiscal year in sound financial condition. The government-wide 
financial statements reflect revenues in excess of expenditures by $20.4 million. 
General Fund expenditures and other financing uses exceed revenues by 
approximately $3.4 million using the modified accrual basis of accounting. The FY 
2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report reflects continued strong and 
fiscally prudent management practices.  
 
Fund Accounting: ACPS reports its financial activities through the use of fund 
accounting. This is a system wherein transactions are reported in self-balancing sets 
of accounts to reflect the results of activities. (See Note 1 of the Notes to the Basic 
Financial Statements for a summary of significant accounting policies and 
descriptions of fund types.) 
 
 



 

 

Internal Control: ACPS management is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining an internal control structure designed to ensure that the assets of the 
school division are protected from loss, theft or misuse and to ensure that adequate 
accounting data are compiled to allow for the preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with GAAP. The internal control structure is designed to provide 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free of any 
material misstatements. The concept of reasonable assurance is based on the 
assumption that the cost of internal financial controls should not exceed the 
benefits expected to be derived from their implementation. As a result, one inherent 
limitation of internal controls is that a certain degree of risk will always be 
unavoidable because of cost/benefit considerations.  
 
For both general and special revenue funds, ACPS utilizes a fully integrated 
accounting system as well as an automated system of controls for fixed assets and 
payroll. These systems, coupled with the manual review of each voucher before 
payment, ensure that the financial information generated is both accurate and 
reliable. 

The audit for the year ended June 30, 2023, disclosed no material internal control 
weaknesses or material instances of noncompliance or other violations of laws, 
regulations, contracts and grant agreements. 
 
Budgetary Control:  Under Virginia law (Section 22.1-93), the School Board must 
prepare and approve an annual budget by May 15 or within 30 days of the receipt 
of the estimates of state funds, whichever shall later occur. ACPS maintains 
budgetary controls to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the 
annual appropriated budget. The fiscal year begins on July 1 and ends on June 30 
with all annual unencumbered appropriations lapsing at year end. Outstanding 
encumbrances of certain governmental funds at the end of the fiscal year are re-

 
 

Budgets are also prepared annually for the Grants and Special Projects Fund and 
the School Nutrition Fund (special revenue funds). The school lunch program is 
dependent on federal and state reimbursements and cafeteria sales to support its 
overall lunch and breakfast food service activities. 
 
The Capital Projects Fund is budgeted on a project-by-project basis and represents 
the entire project budget for projects expected to begin that fiscal year. Debt service 
funds are established by the City in accordance with the requirements of 
bondholders. All budget and expenditures related to the capital projects fund are 

 
 
Management and legal control is exercised at the budgetary department level within 
each fund. ACPS also maintains an encumbrance accounting system as one 
technique of accomplishing budgetary control. Encumbrances outstanding at the 
end of the fiscal year in the general fund, grants and special projects fund, and the 
school food services fund are carried forward and available in the subsequent fiscal 
year as appropriate. 
 



 

 

Each department administrator and school principal is furnished with monthly 
financial reports showing the status of the budget accounts for which they are 
responsible and detailed transaction reports. They are also provided a report listing 
outstanding encumbrances for the current and prior years. 
 
Other Information 
 
Awards 

Certificate of Excellence (ASBO): The Association of School Business Officials 
International (ASBO) awarded the Alexandria City Public Schools a Certificate of 
Excellence in Financial Reporting for the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. This prestigious international certificate 
award is the highest form of recognition in school financial reporting and is valid 
for a period of one year only. This is the 20th consecutive year that ACPS has 
achieved this prestigious award.  
 
This financial reporting award was designed by ASBO to enable school officials to 
achieve a high standard of financial reporting. The award is only conferred to 
school systems that have met or exceeded the standards of the program. We believe 
that our current Financial Report also conforms to the ASBO Certificate of 
Excellence program requirements and we are submitting it to ASBO to determine 
its eligibility for another certificate. 
 
Certificate of Achievement (GFOA): The Government Finance Officers 
Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of 
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to ACPS for its Annual 
Comprehensive Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. This was 
the 13th year ACPS has achieved this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a 
Certificate of Achievement by the GFOA, a government must publish an easily 
readable and efficiently organized Annual Comprehensive Financial Report. This 
report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable 
legal requirements. 
 
A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that 
our current 

eligibility for another certificate.  
 
In addition to the two awards for excellence in financial reporting described above, 
ACPS has also earned the Meritorious Budget Award from the ASBO and the 
Distinguished Budget Presentation Award from the GFOA for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2023. These awards are valid for a period of one year only and we believe 
that our budget report continues to conform to the program requirements of both 
organizations. We will be submitting our fiscal year 2024 budget to ASBO and 
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FINANCIAL SECTION

Strategic Plan Goal - Systemic Alignment
ACPS will build a culture of continuous improvement and design 

equitable systems for school and instructional improvement.  
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CLA (CliftonLarsonAllen LLP) is an independent network member of CLA Global. See CLAglobal.com/disclaimer.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
CLAconnect.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

Members of the Board 
Alexandria City Public Schools 
Alexandria, Virginia 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Opinions 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major 
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Alexandria City Public Schools, a component 
unit of the City of Alexandria, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the Alexandria City Public Schools’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the Alexandria City Public Schools, as of June 30, 2023, and the 
respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards and the Specifications for Audits of Authorities, Boards and Commissions (the 
“Specifications”), issued by the Auditor of Public Accounts of the Commonwealth of Virginia, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are required to be independent of the Alexandria City Public Schools and to meet our other 
ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions. 

Financial Section-Independent Auditor’s Report
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Members of the Board 
Alexandria City Public Schools 

 
 
 

 

Emphasis of Matter 
As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, effective July 1, 2022, the School System adopted 
new accounting guidance for Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITAs). A 
SBITA is defined as a contract that conveys control of the right to use another party’s (a SBITA 
vendor’s) information technology (IT) software, alone or in combination with tangible capital assets (the 
underlying IT assets), as specified in the contract for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like 
transaction. The guidance requires subscribers to recognize a right-to-use SBITA asset and 
corresponding SBITA liability for all SBITA’s with lease terms greater than twelve months.  Our opinion 
is not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Alexandria City Public 
Schools’ ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, 
including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government 
Auditing Standards, and the Specifications  will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood 
that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user 
based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the 
Specifications we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

 
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Alexandria City Public Schools’ internal control. Accordingly, 
no such opinion is expressed. 

Financial-Independent Auditor’s Report



Page 25 

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia

Members of the Board 
Alexandria City Public Schools 

 
 
 

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 
 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 

that raise substantial doubt about the Alexandria City Public Schools’ ability to continue as a 
going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management 
discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information and the required supplementary information 
as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an 
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or 
provide any assurance. 
 
Supplementary Information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Alexandria City Public Schools’ basic financial statements. The other 
supplementary information as listed in the table of contents is presented for purposes of additional 
analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected 
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the other 
supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole. 
 
Other Information 
Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other 
information comprises the introductory and statistical sections but does not include the basic financial 
statements and our auditors’ report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not 
cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 

Financial Section-Independent Auditor’s Report
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Members of the Board 
Alexandria City Public Schools 

 
 
 

 
In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the 
basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other 
information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 
15, 2023, on our consideration of the Alexandria City Public Schools’ internal control over financial 
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not 
to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Alexandria City Public Schools’ internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Alexandria City Public Schools’ internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 

 
 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Arlington, Virginia 
December 15, 2023 

Financial-Independent Auditor’s Report
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Introduction                                                          

performance.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is an element of the reporting model adopted by the 

comparative information between the current year and the prior year is required to be presented in the 

Financial Highlights

designated for use at the discretion of the School Board or management.

Overview of the Financial Statements

and 4) other supplementary information. 

Financial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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ACPS 

3. Required  
Supplementary 

Information

2. Basic  

Statements
Discussion & 

Analysis

Statements 

4. Other  
Supplementary 

Information

Notes to the 

Statements 

Government-

Statements 

in more detail than the government-wide statements. 

government-wide statements.

position.

contributions and a schedule of changes in net OPEB liability.

immediately following the required supplementary information on pensions. 

one another.

Financial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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Government-wide Financial Statements

basis of accounting includes all of the current year’s revenues and expenses regardless of when cash 
is received or paid. 

reported as net position. Increases or decreases in net position over time may serve as a useful 

Financial Analysis of ACPS as a Whole

bonds are recorded as part of the primary government rather than as part of ACPS. 

Financial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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Percentage
Change

Variance

ASSETS
Current assets    -6.4%
Net Pension Assets

        
Total assets -3.8%

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities        
Long-term liabilities        
Net OPEB liabilities           -2.3%
Net pension liabilities       

Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets         
Restricted        -3.6%

      
Total net position    

Governmental Activities

Summary of Net Position
As of June 30,

Net position. 

Current Assets 

Net Pension Assets
Pension Asset.

Current Liabilities
payables. 

Long-term Liabilities

subscription-based information technology arrangements established with GASB Statement No. 

Financial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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2023 2022 Variance % Change
Revenues

Charges for services    
Operating grants and contributions                            

City appropriation                   4.5%
State aid                         
Other local funds                                      
Contributions to City Capital Programs           -                          
Total revenues 369,127,600       352,022,090      17,105,510     

Expenses

General instruction                   5.3%
Adult education                                
Summer school                               

Administration                         
Attendance and health services                               -4.4%
Pupil transportation                            6.6%
Plant operations and maintenance                         8.6%

                           5.5%
Total expenses 348,588,550       330,733,278      17,855,272     5.4%

Change in net position            -3.5%
Net Position-beginning balance       
Net Position-ending balance (187,477,900)$    

Governmental Activities

Changes in Net Position
For the fiscal years ending, June 30,

Net Pension Liabilities

the ACPS Employees Supplemental Plan.

Changes in net position. 

Program revenues consist of charges for services and grants and contributions. Charges for 

a regular instruction schedule.

(ESSER) federal funding.  

Financial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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percent.

Increases in state aid were primarily due to higher sales taxes revenues received by the state and 
Medicaid revenue received.

personnel costs and continued purchases of cloud-based student instruction applications and 
platforms and technology for our students. 

Fund Financial Statements

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 

are reported in the governmental funds.

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental 

year for spending in future years. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-

Financial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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between governmental funds and governmental activities.

operations and the services it provides.

unassigned fund balance which is not constrained at all and can be used for any purpose by the Board. 

amount and percentage increases and decreases in relation to prior year amounts reported.

General Fund Revenues

Other local revenue is primarily federal grant indirect cost recoveries and rebates received from vendors.  

Financial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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Amount Amount Amount
Source

City of Alexandria       %       %           %
State Aid                                        

                                      5               3.5         
                                                      
                                                        

    %     %  5.6         %

Amounts may not add due to rounding

General Fund Revenues by Source

Percentage
Change

Increase (Decrease)

Percent Percent

Amount Amount Amount

General instruction         %       %  4.8           %
Adult education                                                             
Summer school                                               (23.4)        
Administration         6.8                        255                      
Attendance and health           2.6                   2.6       454                      
Pupil transportation                                 483           4.2           
Plant operations and maintenance         8.8                                         

                                                              
Capital improvement services                    -             -                -             
Debt Service
   Principal                                     584                    
   Interest                      448                                       

      %       %  6.8           %

  (258)                   %
          -                     -             

   Contribution to City Capital Programs         -                    -             
   

Amounts may not add due to rounding

General Fund Expenditures by Function
and Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Change
PercentPercent

Increase (Decrease)

Percent

General Fund Expenditures & Other Financing Sources and Uses

• 

population of students with additional needs. 

• 

use leases and subscription agreements.

Financial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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Fund Balances

community partners and companies.

by the City for approved capital projects in advance of incurred capital expenditures.

revenues from National School Lunch and Breakfast Programs decreased compared to the prior year. 

Capital and Right-to-use Assets

Financial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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Increase
2023 2022 (Decrease)

Land   - -            %
Construction-in-progress -                                          
Buildings and building improvements                            

                                  
Right-to-use assets                       
Right-to-use subscription assets       -                                

Totals 39,527,846$  36,740,430$     2,787,416$   7.6             %

Percentage
Change

Governmental Activities

Capital Assets
(net of accumulated depreciation)

As of June 30,

transferred to or purchased by ACPS.

• 

• 

• 
aging schools. 

• 

• 

• 
replace aging equipment.

• 
• 
• 
 

• 

• 
replace aging equipment.

• School Nutrition Services- Renovations and upgrades to school cafeterias at Lyles Crouch 

Financial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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Variance from
Original Final
Budget Budget Actual

Revenues

City of Alexandria    - 
State aid                                             

                                                               
                                                         

Other local funds                                                            

Total Revenues

Expenditures
Salaries                         
Benefits                               
Purchased Services                               
Other Charges                               
Materials and Supplies                                 
Capital Outlay                                                   

Total Expenditures

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
                                             
                                                    

Contribution to City Capital Programs                                  -                      

Change in Fund Balance     

Total Other Financing Sources and Uses

FY 2023

Excess (Deficiency) of revenue over (under) 
expenditures 

Revenues and Expenditures
General Fund

Budget to Actual Comparison

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

end.

higher than estimated sales tax collections.

Financial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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Fiduciary Funds

for the plan are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. 

Economic Factors and 2024 Fiscal Year Budget

include projected student enrollment growth compared to the student teacher ratios in each classroom 

projects budget.

enrollment in the English Learner (EL) program represents 36.2 percent of total student population 

Financial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis



Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia

challenges towards balancing our budget.

development. 

fund balance.

Contacting the Alexandria City Public Schools Financial Management

.  

Financial-Management’s Discussion & Analysis
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ACPS will ensure students have equitable access to and                  
engagement with programs and supports that reduce barriers 

to learning. 
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Exhibit I

Governmental
Activities

Assets
Equity in pooled cash and investments  
Cash and cash equivalents                
Due from other governments           
Other receivables                
Prepaid items and other assets             
Inventories                
Net pension assets           

Land                
          

Total assets 142,031,302        

Deferred Outflows of Resources
OPEB             
Pensions           

Total deferred outflows of resources 75,832,680          
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 217,863,982$      

Liabilities
Accrued personnel services  
Accounts payable           

            

Due within one year             
Due in more than one year           

Net OPEB liabilities           
Net pension liabilities         

Total liabilities 339,769,802        

Deferred Inflows of Resources
OPEB             
Pensions           

Total deferred inflows of resources 65,572,080          

Net Position
          

Restricted for grant and special revenue programs             
Restricted for health benefits           
Restricted for net pension assets           

       
Total net position (187,477,900)       
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources
 and net position 217,863,982$      

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2023

Net investment in capital assets

Financial Section-Basic Financial Statements
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Exhibit II

Operating
Charges for Grants and Governmental

Expenses Services Contributions Activities

General instruction     
Adult education                   -                              
Summer school                   -                              

Administration       -               -                            
Attendance and health services         -               -                              
Pupil transportation       -               -                            
Plant operations and maintenance                 -                            

                                   

Total governmental activities             

City of Alexandria           
Commonwealth of Virginia             

Other general revenue                  
Contribution to City Capital Programs              

          

Change in net position             

Net position  - July 1, 2022          

Net position - June 30, 2023  

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Total general revenues and other financing 
uses, net

Functions

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Program Revenues

 Net (Expense) 
Revenue and 

Changes in Net 
Position

Financial Section-Basic Financial Statements
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Exhibit III

Total
Capital Grants & School Governmental

General Projects Special Revenue Nutrition Funds

Assets
Equity in pooled cash and investments  - - -  
Cash and cash equivalents                -                              -                               
Due from other governments                                           
Due from other funds         -                 -                                    
Other receivables -                     -                                                            
Prepaid items and other assets           -                                                        
Inventories -                     -                 -                                            

Total assets      

Liabilities
Accrued personnel services  -    
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                                             

                 -                                                     
Due to other funds           -                         -                          

Total liabilities                                      

Fund Balances
Nonspendable           -                 -                                         
Restricted -                                                            
Committed           -                 -                     -                            
Assigned              -                 -                     -                               

          -                 -                     -                            

Total fund balances                                              

     

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds
June 30, 2023

Total liabilities and fund balances

Financial Section-Basic Financial Statements
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Exhibit III-1

Total fund balances-governmental funds  

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position 

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial resources
and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds. (Note 5)

Non-depreciable assets  
Depreciable assets     

              

Virginia Retirement System- Political Subdivision          
Deferred Outflows of Resources affecting total pension liabilities and retirement

Difference between projected and actual investment earnings       
Difference between employer contributions and proportionate share            

             
Difference due to changes in assumptions       
Employer retirement contributions after measurement date                

Deferred Outflows of Resources affecting total OPEB liabilities and OPEB plan

           
Difference between projected and actual investment earnings            
Difference between employer contributions and proportionate share            
Difference due to changes in assumptions         
Employer retirement contributions after measurement date                    

Liabilities applicable to the ACPS' governmental activities are not due and payable
in the current period and accordingly are not reported as fund liabilities.

       
          
              
     
          

Right-to-use subscriptions- Current Increase           
                 

Internal service funds are used by management to track and record the costs of the

   internal service fund is reported with governmental activities in the Statement 
   of Net Position.          
Deferred Inflows of Resources affecting total pension liabilities and retirement plan

     
Difference due to changes in assumptions      
Difference between employer contributions and proportionate share        
Difference between projected and actual investment earnings             

Deferred Inflows of Resources affecting total OPEB liabilities and OPEB plan fiduciary

       
Difference between projected and actual investment earnings           
Difference between employer contributions and proportionate share        
Difference due to changes in assumptions                 

                                                                                      
      

       

Total net position - governmental activities (187,477,900)$    

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to

the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2023

Financial Section-Basic Financial Statements
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Exhibit IV

Total
Capital Grants & School Governmental

General Projects Special Revenue Nutrition Funds
Revenues

City of Alexandria   - -  
State aid       -                                                 

           -                                            
           -                                -                              

-                  -                  -                                         
Other            -                                                      

Total revenues                                

Expenditures

General instruction     -                           -                          
Adult education            -                                -                              

Summer school and kindergarten prep         -                                                        
Administration       -                             -                            
Attendance and health services         -                             -                              
Pupil transportation       -                             -                            
Plant operations and maintenance       -                             -                            

           -                                               
Capital improvement services                                                  
Debt Service
   Principal                                                        
   Interest            34                   34                       -                                 

Total expenditures                                
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
(under) expenditures                                                 

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
-                  -                             -                              

      -                  -                      -                             
                                                     

       Contribution to City Capital Programs       -                  -                      -                             
     Total other financing sources (uses)                                                

Net change in fund balances                                                       

Fund Balances-July 1, 2022                                                

Fund Balances-June 30, 2023      

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Financial Section-Basic Financial Statements
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Exhibit IV-1

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds  

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are

 
Virginia Retirement System-Political Subdivisions         
Employees' Supplemental Retirement  System           

        

Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated 

new capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the current period. (Note 5)            

and other postemployment benefits are measured by the amount accrued

         
            
             
        
           
        
                   

           

Change in net position - governmental activities 20,539,050$     

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, 

and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 
 to the Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

of the internal service fund is reported with governmental activities.

differences between pension expenses and deferred employer contributions of the 
Pension expense reported in the Statement of Activities was adjusted to reflect the 

OPEB expense reported in the Statement of Activities was adjusted to reflect the 
differences between OPEB expenses and deferred employer contributions  of the 
OPEB plan. (Note 8)

Financial Section-Basic Financial Statements
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Exhibit V

Health
Benefits Fund

Assets
Equity in pooled cash and investments  
Other receivables                

Total assets, current         

Liabilities
Accounts payable              

          
Incurred but not reported claims           

Total liabilities, current           

Net Position
        

Total net position  

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds - Internal Service Fund
June 30, 2023

Financial Section-Basic Financial Statements
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Exhibit VI

Health
Benefits Fund

Operating Revenues
Charges for services  
Total operating revenues        

Operating Expenses
Claims and benefits paid        
Premiums        
Administrative costs          

Total operating expenses        

Change in net position             

Net Position- July 1, 2022        

Net Position- June 30, 2023  

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Funds - Intenal Service Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Financial Section-Basic Financial Statements
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Exhibit VI-1

Health
Benefits Fund

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from customers  
Payments to providers for services         

Net cash provided from operating activities  

Net change in equity in pooled cash and investments  

Equity in pooled cash and investments, beginning of year         

Equity in pooled cash and investments, end of year  

Operating Income  

Increase in other receivables                
Decrease in accounts payable            
Decrease in unearned revenue                
Increase in incurred but not reported claims                

           

Net cash provided from operating activities  

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash 
provided by operating activities

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds - Internal Service Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash Provided from Operating 
Activities

Financial Section-Basic Financial Statements



Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia

Exhibit VII

Pension and
Other Employee

Benefit
Trust Funds

Assets

Cash Equivalents  
Bonds           
Mutual funds           
Real estate           
Global asset allocation           

Total investments         

Contributions Receivable                

Total assets 155,600,024$      

Net Position

Restricted for pension  
Restricted for other postemployment benefits           

Total net position held in trust 155,600,024$      

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2023

Financial Section-Basic Financial Statements
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Pension and 
Other Employee

Benefit
Trust Funds

Additions

Employer contributions  
Employee contributions               

              

Investment earnings               
Net appreciation in fair value of investments               
Investment expenses                   

   Net investment income               

Total additions             

Deductions

Benefit payments               
Administrative expenses                  

Total deductions               

Change in net position               

 Net position - July 1, 2022           

Net position - June 30, 2023  

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Exhibit VIII

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Financial Section-Basic Financial Statements
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a) Reporting Entity 

high-quality instruction to a highly-diverse student population so that all students achieve at their 
highest potential.

has the discretionary authority to expend the amount appropriated to it by the Council.

Basis of Financial Statement Presentation and Fund Accounting

was developed to make annual reports easier to understand and more useful to the people who use 

  Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A)

       

   GASB Statement No. 34 requires governmental entities to present 

  Budgetary comparison schedule

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
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b)  Basis of Presentation

Government-wide Financial Statements

wide statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis 

which use the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis. Governmental fund 

relationship between the government-wide statements and the statements for governmental funds.

program revenues for each function or program within ACPS’ governmental activities. Direct expenses 

revenues of ACPS.

Lunch program and other federal grants and reimbursements.

is included in the direct expense of each applicable function.

interfund activity has been removed from these statements.

Fund Financial Statements

statements is on reporting major funds rather than on reporting funds by type. Each major fund is 
presented in a separate column. All governmental funds have been designated as major funds for 

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
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items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services. Revenues and 
expenditures not meeting these criteria are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. 

to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid management by segregating transactions related to certain 

set of accounts.

Governmental funds Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions of 

and the related liabilities are accounted for through governmental funds. ACPS’ main operating fund is 
reported as a major fund. Major funds are determined based on the ratio of each fund compared to the 

• General Fund

• Capital Projects Fund

• Grants and Special Revenue Fund

student activity funds held at each school.

• School Nutrition Fund is a special revenue fund which accounts for the activities of the cafeterias 

Proprietary funds 
items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s ongoing operations.

• -

paid by other funds and employee contributions deducted from employee pay on a semi-monthly 
basis.

Fiduciary funds

• 
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c)  Budgetary Comparison Schedule

statements. Demonstrating compliance with the legally-adopted budget is an important component of 

and actual results.

d)  Basis of Accounting

funds are reported using the accrual basis of accounting.

considered to be measurable and available as revenue when reimbursements for related eligible 
expenditures are collected within a year of the date the expenditure was incurred. ACPS considers 

absences and workers’ compensation. Liabilities for compensated absences and workers compensation 

incurred and all other eligibility requirements have been met.

Grant proceeds received before the eligibility requirements are met are recorded as unearned revenue. 

earned when the commodities are received. 

e)  Encumbrance Accounting

formal budgetary control. 
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Interfund Interfund
Receivables Payables

  
-                          

        -                    
  

f)  Cash and Investments

ACPS cash balances in all governmental and proprietary funds are held by the City and are invested to 

separate bank accounts maintained by individual schools and departments. 

g)  Due from Other Governments

federal and state reimbursement of grants expenditures. 

h)  Interfund Transactions and Other Financing 

eliminated in the government-wide Statement of Net Position. Exchange transactions between funds 

goods from one fund to another without a requirement for repayment are reported as interfund transfers. 
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 - - 
Sources - Interfund -                   -                           

                           
Contribution to City Capital Programs        -                  -                    

   

incurred in the Virginia Pre-school Initiative program.

i)  Inventories and Prepaid Items

is reported as inventory. 

items.

j)  Capital Assets

Capital outlays are recorded as expenditures in the governmental funds and as assets in the government-

and retirements during the year. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of 

resulting gain or loss is included in the results of operations.
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Description Estimated Life

Buildings

Building improvements

Right-to-use lease assets 2 - 6 years

Right-to-use subscriptions 2 - 8 years

All reported capital assets other than land and construction in progress are depreciated. Building 
improvements are depreciated over the shorter of ten years or the remaining useful lives of the related 
capital assets. 

Exhibit II.

 

actual experience.

m)  Compensated Absences
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governmental funds is that which pertains to those employees who retired or resigned on or before 

Annual Leave

accrued leave at their current per diem rate of pay up to a maximum of 45 annual leave days. Annual 
leave is accrued as it is earned or advanced.

Sick Leave

by the Board. ACPS does not compensate terminated employees for unused sick leave unless they 
have completed three consecutive years of employment. Sick leave is accrued for the amount earned 
and vested.

Personal Leave

employee group. Personal leave is credited to each employee at the beginning of each contract year.

n)  Net Position

o)  Fund Balance 

extent to which the School Board is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of resources in 

Nonspendable Fund Balance - includes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent either because it 
is not in spendable form or because of legal or contractual requirements. Criteria include items that are 
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Spendable Fund Balance 

provisions or enabling legislation. 

action.

amounts of unrestricted fund balance when expenditures are made. 

upon the City and the City maintains an adequate fund balance.

p)  Use of Estimates

r) Pensions
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are reported at fair value. 

t) Accrued Personnel Services

u)  Income Tax

v) Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Pronouncements

Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITA)
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NOTE 2. Deposits and Investments

ACPS cash balances from all funds are combined and invested to the extent available by the City 

transferred from the City’s pooled account to pay ACPS checks drawn on the ACPS account. Since 

A. Deposits

Act and for notifying local governments of compliance by banks and savings and loan associations. 

maintained by the pension administrator. 

B. Investments
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Standard & Poor.

and custodial risk as described below.

• Interest Rate Risk- As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising 

maturities of less than one year.

• Credit Risk

interest bearing bank account with which the customer is permitted to write drafts against money 

• Custodial Risk
the counter party the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral 
securities that are in the possession of an outside party. Currently all City investments are held 

for repurchase agreements be held in the City’s name by a custodial agent for the term of the 

Assets of the pension plans are invested by the pension carriers in accordance with the provisions of 

in a manner that fully guarantees the principal amount of the plan’s assets. 
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year months 

 - -  
Pension Plan Investments    -                    -                     

   -                    -                     

 - -  

INVESTMENT MATURITIES (in months)

ACPS Equity in City Pooled Investments  

Excess of outstanding checks over bank balance         

Net Equity in City Pooled Investments        

Cash and equivalents             

       

Investments held in trust for retirement benefits      

 

All pension plan investments are considered unallocated insurance contracts and are valued at fair 

assets.

C. ACPS OPEB Trust Fund

Deposit and Investment Policies

Code of Virginia
provides for the purchase of investments that meet the standard of judgment and care set forth in 

 Code of Virginia
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6/30/2023
for Identical 

Assets (Level 1)
Observable 

Inputs (Level 2)
Unobservable

Inputs (Level 3)
Investments by Fair Value Hierarchy Level

Cash equivalent balances  -  - 
Employees' Supplemental Retirement Plan

Equity Asset Class
Principal Global Investors       -                             -                     

        -                               -                     
Origin Asset Mgmt                  

Fixed Income Asset Class
        -                               -                     

Principal Global Investors       -                             -                     
Real Estate

Principal Real Estate Investments       -                      -                            
    -                                   

Total investments by fair value hierarchy level 126,850,171    -$                    112,226,848$   14,623,322$      

Investment in Internal Investment Pool Controlled by the 
City       

      
Total investments measured at net asset value (NAV) 93,003,468      
Total investments 219,853,639$  

Investments by Value Category

Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV)

Net Asset 
Value (NAV)

Cash & Equivalents  
Bonds       

        
Real Estate         

        
 

D. ACPS Investments Measured at Fair Value

investments in Level 3 are valued using proprietary valuation methods. 
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A.
National School Meal Program  

                
              
           
              

English Language Acquisition State Grants               
Special Education-Preschool Grants                 
Special Education-Grants to States               

                
              

Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grants               
           

CRRSA ESSER II            
ARP ESSER III            
ARP ESSER III-Special Education-Grants to States               

              
NIH Research Support AIM AHEA               

           

         
B. Commonwealth of Virginia

              
              

VA Medicaid Assistance                 
           
                  

Virginia Clean School Bus Program               

           
C. City of Alexandria

Capital Projects            
Adult Detention                 

           

 

asset value (NAV).

NOTE 3. Prepaid Items

accounting periods. 

NOTE 4. Due from Other Governments
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General instruction  
Pupil transportation  
Administration  
Plant operations and maintenance  

    

by governmental activities  

Balance Balance 
July 1, 2022 Increases Decreases June 30, 2023

Capital assets not  depreciated
Land  - -  
Construction-in-progress              -                               -                   

          -                                          

Buildings and building improvements                                
                                  

Right-to-use lease assets                   -                         
Right-to-use subcription assets                                              

                             

Buildings and building improvements                                   
                                  

Right-to-use lease assets                  -                           
Right-to-use subcription assets -                                                         

                               

               -                           

    

NOTE 5. Capital Assets
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Capital outlay  

Other assets       

    

     

      

Depreciation expense      

 

Interest Principal

   
                   
                   
                   
                     
                     

   

law is to allow cities and counties the ability to match the recording of school assets and related liabilities. 

NOTE 6. Lease Liabilities
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NOTE 7. Retirement Plans

A. Virginia Retirement System
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            
Plan Description

All full-time salaried permanent (professional) employees of Alexandria City Public Schools (ACPS) 

permanent employees (non-professional) of ACPS are automatically covered by the VRS Political 

System or VRS) along with plans for other employer groups in the Commonwealth of Virginia.  Members 
earn one month of service credit for each month they are employed and for which they and their employer 

Code of Virginia

eligibility for covered groups within each plan are set out in the following table.
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VRS 
Plan 1 

VRS 
Plan 2 

VRS Hybrid  
Retirement Plan 

 

  

About Plan 1   
 
Plan 1 is a defined benefit plan.  The 
Retirement benefit is based on a 
member’s age, creditable service and 
average final compensation at retirement 
using a formula.  

About Plan 2 
 
Plan 2 is a defined benefit plan.  The 
retirement benefit is based on a member’s 
age, creditable service and average final 
compensation at Retirement using a 
formula.  

About the Hybrid Retirement Plan 
 
The Hybrid Retirement Plan combines the 
features of a defined benefit plan and a 
defined contribution plan.   

 The defined benefit is based on 
member’s age, creditable service and 
average final compensation at 
retirement using a formula. 

 The benefit from the defined 
contribution component of the plan 
depends on the member and 
employer contributions made to the 
plan and the investment performance 
of those contributions. 

 In addition to the monthly benefit 
payment payable from the defined 
benefit plan at retirement, a member 
may start receiving distributions from 
the balance in the defined 
contribution account, reflecting the 
contributions, investment gains or 
losses, and any required fees. 

 
Eligible Members 
 
Employees are in Plan 1 if their 
membership date is before July 1, 2010, 
they were vested before January 1, 2013, 
and they have not taken a refund. 
 
 
 
Hybrid Opt-In Election 
 
VRS non-hazardous duty covered Plan 1 
members were allowed to make an 
irrevocable decision to opt into the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan during a special election 
window held January 1 through April 30, 
2014. 
The Hybrid Retirement Plan’s effective 
date for eligible Plan 1 members who 
opted in was July 1, 2014. 
If eligible deferred members returned to 
work during the election window, they 
were also eligible to opt into the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan. 
 
Members who were eligible for an 
optional retirement plan (ORP) and had 
prior service under Plan 1 were not eligible 
to elect the Hybrid Retirement Plan and 
remain as Plan 1 or ORP. 
 

Eligible Members 
 
Employees are in Plan 2 if their 
membership date is from July 1, 2010, to 
December 31, 2013, and they have not 
taken a refund. Members are covered 
under Plan 2 if they have a membership 
date prior to July 1, 2010, and they were 
not vested before January 1, 2013. 
 
 
Hybrid Opt-In Election 
 
Eligible Plan 2 members were allowed to 
make an irrevocable decision to opt into 
the Hybrid Retirement Plan during a 
special election window held January 1 
through April 30, 2014. 
The Hybrid Retirement Plan’s effective 
date for eligible Plan 2 members who 
opted in was July 1, 2014. 
If eligible deferred members returned to 
work during the election window, they 
were also eligible to opt into the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan. 
 

Members who were eligible for an 
optional retirement plan (ORP) and have 
prior service under Plan 2 were not eligible 
to elect the Hybrid Retirement Plan and 
remain as Plan 2 or ORP. 
 

Eligible Members 
 
Employees are in the Hybrid Retirement 
Plan if their membership date is on or 
after January 1, 2014.  This includes: 
School division employees and Political 
subdivision employees* 
Members in Plan 1 or Plan 2 who elected 
to opt into the plan during the election 
window held January 1-April 30, 2014; the 
plan’s effective date for opt-in members 
was July 1, 2014 
 
*Non-Eligible Members 
Some employees are not eligible to 
participate in the Hybrid Retirement Plan.  
They include: 
Political Subdivision employees who are 
covered by enhanced benefits for 
hazardous duty employees. 
Those employees eligible for an optional 
retirement plan (ORP) must elect the 
Hybrid retirement Plan.  If these members 
have prior service under Plan 1 or Plan 2, 
they are not eligible to elect the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan and must select Plan 1 or 
Plan 2 (as applicable) or ORP. 
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VRS 
Plan 1 

VRS 
Plan 2 

VRS Hybrid  
Retirement Plan 

 
Retirement Contributions 
 
Employees contribute 5% of their 
compensation each month to their 
member contribution account through a 
pre-tax salary reduction. Member 
contributions are tax –deferred until they 
are withdrawn as part of a retirement 
benefit or as a refund.  The employer 
makes a separate actuarially determined 
contribution to VRS for all covered 
employees.  VRS invests both member and 
employer contributions to provide funding 
for the future benefit payment. 

Retirement Contributions 
 
Same as Plan 1. 

 

Retirement Contributions 
 
A member’s retirement benefit is funded 
through mandatory and voluntary 
contributions made by the member and 
the employer to both the defined benefit 
and the defined contribution components 
of the plan.  Mandatory contributions are 
based on a percentage of the employee’s 
creditable compensation and are required 
from both the member and the employer.  
Additionally, members may choose to 
make voluntary contributions to the 
defined contribution component of the 
plan, and the employer is required to 
match those voluntary contributions 
according to specified percentages. 

Service Credit 
 
Creditable service includes active service.  
Members earn creditable service for each 
month they are employed in a covered 
position.  It also may include credit for 
prior service the member has purchased 
or additional creditable service the 
member was granted.  A member’s total 
creditable service is one of the factors 
used to determine their eligibility for 
retirement and to calculate their 
retirement benefit.  It also may count 
toward eligibility for the health insurance 
credit in retirement, if the employer offers 
the health insurance credit. 

Service Credit 
 
Same as Plan 1. 

Service Credit 
Defined Benefit Component: 
Under the defined benefit component of 
the plan, creditable service includes active 
service. Members earn creditable service 
for each month they are employed in a 
covered position. It also may include credit 
for prior service the member has 
purchased or additional creditable service 
the member was granted. A member’s 
total creditable service is one of the 
factors used to determine their eligibility 
for retirement and to calculate their 
retirement benefit. It also may count 
toward eligibility for the health insurance 
credit in retirement, if the employer offers 
the health insurance credit.  
 
Defined Contributions Component:  
Under the defined contribution 
component, creditable service is used to 
determine vesting for the employer 
contribution portion of the plan.  

Vesting 
 
Vesting is the minimum length of service a 
member needs to qualify for a future 
retirement benefit.  Members become 
vested when they have at least five year 
(60 months) of creditable service.  Vesting 
means members are eligible to qualify for 
retirement if they meet the age and 
service requirements for their plan.  
Members also must be vested to receive a 
full refund of their member contribution 
account balance if they leave employment 
and request a refund. 
Members are always 100% vested in the 
contributions that they make 
 

Vesting 
 
Same as Plan 1. 
 
 

Vesting                                                         
Defined Benefit Component                             
Defined benefit vesting is the minimum 
length of service a member needs to 
qualify for a future retirement benefit.  
Members are vested under the defined 
benefit component of the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan when they reach five 
years (60 months) of creditable service.  
Plan 1 or Plan 2 members with at least five 
years (60 months) of creditable service 
who opted into the Hybrid Retirement 
Plan remain vested in the defined benefit 
component. 
 
Defined Contributions Component: 
 

Defined contribution vesting refers to the 
minimum length of service a member 
needs to be eligible to withdraw the 

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements



Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia

VRS 
Plan 1 

VRS 
Plan 2 

VRS Hybrid  
Retirement Plan 

 

  

employer contributions from the defined 
contribution component of the plan. 
 

Members are always 100% vested in the 
contributions that they make.   
 

Upon retirement or leaving covered 
employment, a member is eligible to 
withdraw a percentage of employer 
contributions to the defined contribution 
component of the plan, based on service. 

 After two years a member is 50% 
vested and may withdraw 50% of 
employer contributions 

 After three years, a member is 75% 
vested and may withdraw 75% of 
employer contributions. 

 After four or more years, member is 
100% vested and may withdraw 100% 
of employer contributions. 

Distributions not required, except as 
governed by law. 

Calculating the Benefit 
 
The Basic Benefit is determined using the 
average final compensation, service credit 
and plan multiplier.   
An early retirement reduction is applied to 
this amount, if the member is retiring with 
a reduced benefit. 
In cases where the member has elected an 
optional form of retirement payment, an 
option factor specific to the option chosen 
is then applied. 

Calculating the Benefit 
 
See definition under Plan 1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Calculating the Benefit                                      
Defined Benefit Component: 
See definition under Plan 1 
 
 
 
Defined Contribution Component: 
The benefit is based on contributions 
made by the member and any matching 
contributions made by the employer, plus 
net investment earnings on those 
contributions. 
 

Average Final Compensation 
A member’s average final compensation is 
the average of the 36 consecutive months 
of highest compensation as a covered 
employee. 

Average Final Compensation 
A member’s average final compensation is 
the average of their 60 consecutive 
months of highest compensation as a 
covered employee. 

Average Final Compensation 
Same as Plan 2.  It is used in the 
retirement formula for the defined benefit 
component of the plan. 

Service Retirement Multiplier 
VRS:  The retirement multiplier is a factor 
used in the formula to determine a final 
retirement benefit.  The Retirement 
multiplier for non-hazardous duty 
members is 1.70%. 
 

Service Retirement Multiplier 
VRS:  Same as Plan 1 for service earned, 
purchased or granted prior to January 1, 
2013.  For non-hazardous duty members 
the retirement multiplier is 1.65% for 
creditable service earned, purchased or 
granted on or after January 1, 2013. 
 

Service Retirement Multiplier                          
Defined Benefit Component:                      
VRS:  the retirement multiplier for the 
defined benefit component is 1.00%. 
 
For members who opted into the Hybrid 
Retirement Plan from Plan 1 or Plan 2, the 
applicable multipliers for those plans will 
be used to calculate the retirement 
benefit for service credited in those plans. 
 
Defined Contribution Component: 
Not applicable. 
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VRS 
Plan 1 

VRS 
Plan 2 

VRS Hybrid  
Retirement Plan 

 
Normal Retirement Age           
 VRS:  Age 65.                               
 
 

Normal Retirement Age     
VRS:  Normal Social Security retirement 
age.         
 

Normal Retirement Age          
VRS:   
Defined Benefit Component:                  
Same as Plan 2.                                        
 
Defined Contribution Component:                  
Members are eligible to receive 
distributions upon leaving employment, 
subject to restrictions. 

Earliest Unreduced Retirement  
Eligibility VRS:  Age 65 with at least five 
years (60 months) of creditable service or 
at age 50 with at least 30 years of 
creditable service. 
 
 
 

 
 

Earliest Unreduced Retirement  
Eligibility VRS:  Normal Social Security 
retirement age  with at least five years (60 
months) of creditable service or when 
their age and service equal 90. 
 
 
  

Earliest Unreduced Retirement  
Eligibility    VRS:   
Defined Benefit Component:  Normal 
Social Security retirement age with at least 
five years (60 months) of creditable 
service or when their age and service 
equal 90.              
 
Defined Contribution Component: 
Members are eligible to receive 
distributions upon leaving employment, 
subject to restrictions. 
  

Earliest Reduced Retirement Eligibility        
 VRS:  Age 55 with at least five years (60 
months) if creditable service or age 50 
with at least 10 years of creditable service. 
 

Earliest Reduced Retirement Eligibility          
 VRS:  Age 60 with at least five years (60 
months) of creditable service. 
 

Earliest Unreduced Retirement Eligibility      
VRS: 
Defined Benefit Component:    
Age 60 with at least five years (60 months) 
of creditable service..      
 

Defined Contribution Component:     
Members are eligible to receive 
distributions upon leaving employment, 
subject to restrictions.                          
 

Cost-of Living Adjustment (COLA) in 
Retirement                 
 
The Cost-of-Living Adjustment (COLA) 
matches the first 3% increase in the 
consumer Price Index for all Urban 
Consumers (CPI-U) and half of any 
additional increase (up to 4%) up to a 
maximum COLA of 5%. 
 
Eligibility:                                             
 
For members who retire with an 
unreduced benefit or with a reduced 
benefit with at least 20 years of creditable 
service, the COLA will go into effect on July 
1 after one full calendar year from the 
retirement date. 
For members who retire with a reduced 
benefit and who have less than 20 years of 
creditable service, the COLA will go into 
effect on July 1 after one calendar year 

Cost-of Living Adjustment (COLA) in 
Retirement                 
 
The Cost-of-Living Adjustment (COLA) 
matches the first 2% increase in the 
consumer Price Index for all Urban 
Consumers (CPI-U) and half of any 
additional increase (up to 2%) up to a 
maximum COLA of 3%. 
 
Eligibility:                                             
 
Same as Plan 1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cost-of-Living Adjustment (COLA) in 
Retirement                    
Defined Benefit Component:   
Same as Plan 2. 
 
Defined Contribution component:                  
Not applicable.          
 
 
 
Eligibility:                         
 
 Same as Plan 1 and Plan 2.      
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VRS 
Plan 1 

VRS 
Plan 2 

VRS Hybrid  
Retirement Plan 

 
following unreduced retirement eligibility 
date. 
 
Exceptions to COLA Effective Dates:               
 The COLA is effective July 1 following one 
full calendar year (January 1 to December 
31) under any of the following 
circumstances:   

 The member is within five years of 
qualifying for an unreduced 
retirement benefit as of January 1, 
2013. 

 The member retires on disability. 
 The member retires directly from 

short-term or long-term disability 
under the Virginia Sickness and 
Disability Program (VSDP). 

 The member is involuntarily 
separated from employment for 
causes other than job performance 
or misconduct and is eligible to retire 
under the Workforce Transition Act 
of the Transitional Benefits Program. 

 The member dies in service and the 
member’s survivor or beneficiary is 
eligible for a monthly death-in-
service benefit.   

The COLA will go into effect on July 1 
following one full calendar year 
(January 1 to December 31) from the 
date the monthly benefit begins. 

 

 
 
Exceptions to COLA Effective Dates:               
Same as Plan 1.                                 
 

 
 
Exceptions to COLA Effective Dates:               
Same as Plan 1 and Plan 2. 

 
Disability Coverage          
Members who are eligible to be 
considered for disability retirement and 
retire on disability, the retirement 
multiplier is 1.7% on all service, regardless 
of when it was earned, purchased or 
granted. 
 

 
Disability Coverage             
Members who are eligible to be 
considered for disability retirement and 
retire on disability, the retirement 
multiplier is 1.65% on all service, 
regardless of when it was earned, 
purchased or granted. 
 
 

 
Disability Coverage                
Employees of school divisions and political 
subdivision (including Plan 1 and Plan 2 
opt-ins) participate in the Virginia Local 
Disability Program (VLDP) unless their local 
governing body provides an employer-paid 
comparable program for its members. 
Hybrid members (including Plan 1 and Plan 
2 opt-ins) covered under VLDP are subject 
to a one-year waiting period before 
becoming eligible for non-work-related 
disability benefits. 
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VRS 
Plan 1 

VRS 
Plan 2 

VRS Hybrid  
Retirement Plan 

 

 

Purchase of Prior Service 
 Members may be eligible to purchase 
service from previous public employment, 
active duty military service, an eligible 
period of leave or VRS refunded service as 
creditable service in their plan.  Prior 
creditable service counts toward vesting 
eligibility for retirement and the health 
insurance credit.  Only active members are 
eligible to purchase prior service.  
Members also may be eligible to purchase 
periods of leave without pay. 

Purchase of Prior Service      
Same as Plan 1. 

Purchase of Prior Service      
Defined Benefit component:   
Same as Plan 1, with the following 
exceptions: 

 Hybrid Retirement Plan members are 
ineligible for ported service 

 
Defined Contribution Component:    
Not applicable. 
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Number

Active Members 288        
Inactive members:  

Vested inactive members 36          
Non-vested Inactive Members         
Long-term Disability -           

Total Inactive Members 142        

199        
     Total Covered Employees 629        

Retirees and beneficiaries currently 
receiving benefits

VRS Political Subdivision Retirement Plan

Contributions
Code of Virginia

their retirement. 

Net Pension Liability
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Actuarial Assumptions 
Inflation 2.5 percent  
Salary increases, including Inflation 3.5 percent – 5.35 percent  
Investment rate of return 6.75 Percent, net of pension plan investment 

expense, including inflation*  
Mortality rates:   
Largest 10- Non-LEOS: 20% of deaths are assumed to be service related 
- Pre-Retirement Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Employee 

Rates projected generationally; 95% of rates for 
males; 105% of rates for females set forward 2 
years 

- Post-Retirement Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Healthy 
Retiree Rates projected generationally; 110% of 
rates for males; 105% of rates for females set 
forward 3 years 

- Post-Disablement Pub-2010 Amount Weighted General Disabled 
Rates projected generationally; 95% of rates for 
males set back 3 years; 90% of rates for females 
set back 3 years 

- Beneficiaries and Survivors Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Contingent 
Annuitant Rates projected generationally; 110% of 
rates for males and females set forward 2 years 

- Mortality Improvement Rates projected generationally with Modified MP-
2020 Improvement Scale that is 75% of the MP-
2020 rates 

All Others (non 10 Largest) Non-LEOS: 15% of deaths are assumed to be service related 
- Pre-Retirement Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Employee 

Rates projected generationally; 95% of rates for 
males; 105% of rates for females set forward 2 
years 

- Post-Retirement Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Healthy 
Retiree Rates projected generationally; 110% of 
rates for males; 105% of rates for females set 
forward 3 years 

- Post-Disablement Pub-2010 Amount Weighted General Disabled 
Rates projected generationally; 95% of rates for 
males set back 3 years; 90% of rates for females 
set back 3 years 

- Beneficiaries and Survivors Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Safety Contingent 
Annuitant Rates projected generationally; 110% of 
rates for males and females set forward 2 years 

- Mortality Improvement Rates projected generationally with Modified MP-
2020 Improvement Scale that is 75% of the MP-
2020 rates 

 

Actuarial Assumptions- General Employees
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Largest 10 Non LEOS Duty:
Mortality rates (Pre retirement, post
retirement healthy, and disabled)

Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality tables.
For future mortality improvements, replace load
with a modified Mortality Improvement Scale MP
2020

Retirement Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience for Plan 1;
set separate rates based on experience for Plan
2/Hybrid; changed final retirement age

Withdrawal Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience at each year
age and service through 9 years of service

Disability Rates; Salary Rates;
Discount Rates

No changes

Mortality rates (Pre retirement, post
retirement healthy, and disabled)

Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality tables.
For future mortality improvements, replace load
with a modified Mortality Improvement Scale MP
2020

Retirement Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience for Plan 1;
set separate rates based on experience for Plan
2/Hybrid; changed final retirement age

Withdrawal Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience at each year
age and service through 9 years of service

Disability Rates; Salary Rates;
Discount Rates

No changes

Discount Rate

used to determine the discount rate assumed that System member contributions will be made per 
the VRS Statutes and the employer contributions will be made in accordance with the VRS funding 

provided with an opportunity to use an alternate employer contribution rate. 

pension liability.

All Others (non 10 Largest) – Non LEOS Duty:
Mortality rates (Pre retirement, post
retirement healthy, and disabled)

Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality tables.
For future mortality improvements, replace load
with a modified Mortality Improvement Scale MP
2020

Retirement Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience for Plan 1;
set separate rates based on experience for Plan
2/Hybrid; changed final retirement age

Withdrawal Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience at each year
age and service through 9 years of service

Disability Rates; Salary Rates;
Discount Rates

No changes

Mortality rates (Pre retirement, post
retirement healthy, and disabled)

Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality tables.
For future mortality improvements, replace load
with a modified Mortality Improvement Scale MP
2020

Retirement Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience for Plan 1;
set separate rates based on experience for Plan
2/Hybrid; changed final retirement age

Withdrawal Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience at each year
age and service through 9 years of service

Disability Rates; Salary Rates;
Discount Rates

No changes
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Asset Class (Strategy)

Long-Term 
Target Asset 

Allocation

Arithmetic 
Long-Term 

Expected Rate 
of Return

Weighted 
Average Long-
Term Expected 

Rate of Return (1)

Public Equity

Credit Strategies
Real Assets
Private Equity
MAPS - Multi-Asset Public Strategies
PIP - Private Investment Partnership 6.55%

5.33%

Inflation

 Expected arithmetic nominal return

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
 Liability Net Position Liability (Asset)

   

     Service Cost               -                                      
     Interest            -                                   
     Differences between expected 
       and actual experience           -                                  
    Changes in assumptions -                    -                  -                          
    Contributions - employer -                    -                  -                          
    Contributions - employee -                                                   
    Net investment income -                                                       

      of employee contributions                   -                          
    Administrative expenses -                                                       
    Other changes -                                                           
        Net changes                                        

   

Increase(Decrease)

Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset)

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return

log-normal distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of the expected future real rates of 

by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by 

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
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Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Net difference between projected and actual
  earnings on pension plan investments -  

Employer contributions subsequent to the
  measurement date            -               
Change in assumptions          -               

Differences between expected and actual
  experience -                     

  

Year Ending 
June 30, Amount

2024  
2025         
2026      
2027          

 

(-1%) Decrease
Current 

Discount Rate (+1%)    Increase

Net Pension Liability (Asset)    

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

what ACPS net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage 

Pensions

Payables to the Pension Plan

Pension Plan Data
Information about the VRS Political Subdivision Retirement Plan’s is also available in the separately 

 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (Annual Report). 
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VRS Teachers Retirement Plan

Contributions
Code of Virginia

Resources Related to Pensions

Pension Liability was based on the school division’s actuarially determined employer contributions to 

pension expense calculation.
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Actuarial Assumptions 
Inflation 2.5 percent  
Salary increases, including Inflation 3.5 percent – 5.95 percent  
Investment rate of return 6.75 Percent, net of pension plan investment 

expense, including inflation  
Mortality rates:   
- Pre-Retirement Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Teachers Employee 

Rates projected generationally;  
110% of rates for males 

- Post-Retirement Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Teachers Healthy 
Retiree Rates projected generationally; males set 
forward 1 year; 105% of rates for females 

- Post-Disablement Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Teachers Disabled 
Rates projected generationally; 110% of rates for 
males and females 

- Beneficiaries and Survivors Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Teachers Contingent 
Annuitant Rates projected generationally 

- Mortality Improvement Rates projected generationally with Modified MP-
2020 Improvement Scale that is 75% of the MP-
2020 rates 

Deferred Outflows 
of Resources

Deferred Inflows 
of Resources

Net difference between projected and actual
  earnings on pension plan investments -  
Changes in proportion and differences
  between employer contributions and 
  proportionate share of contributions                                

Changes in assumptions               -                     

Differences between expected and actual
  experience -                                     

Employer contributions subsequent to the
  measurement date               -                     

  

Year Ending 
June 30, Amount

2024  
2025          
2026        
2027           

-                   

 

Actuarial Assumptions
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 Teacher 
Employee 
Retirement 

Plan 

 
      

Employers' Net Position Liability  

Net Pension Liability

required supplementary information.

Long – Term Expected Rate of Return

normal distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected 

expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected 

Mortality rates (Pre-retirement, post-
retirement healthy, and disabled) 

Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality tables. 
For future mortality improvements, replace load 
with a modified Mortality Improvement Scale MP-
2020 

Retirement Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience for Plan 1; 
set separate rates based on experience for Plan 
2/Hybrid; changed final retirement age from 75 to 
80 for all 

Withdrawal Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience at each year 
age and service through 9 years of service 

Disability Rates; Salary Rates;  
Discount Rates 

No changes 
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ACPS' proportionate share of VRS 
Teacher Plan Net Pension Liability 304,931,819$       170,727,183$          61,455,098$            

Asset Class (Strategy)

Long-Term 
Target Asset 

Allocation

Arithmetic 
Long-Term 

Expected Rate 
of Return

Weighted 
Average Long-
Term Expected 

Rate of Return (1)

Public Equity

Credit Strategies
Real Assets
Private Equity
MAPS - Multi-Asset Public Strategies
PIP - Private Investment Partnership 6.55%

5.33%

Inflation

 Expected arithmetic nominal return

Discount Rate

used to determine the discount rate assumed that member contributions will be made per the VRS 
Statutes and the employer contributions will be made in accordance with the VRS funding policy at rates 

Sensitivity of the School Division’s Proportionate share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the 
Discount Rate

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Comprehensive Financial Report (Annual Report).  
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 or by writing to the System’s Chief 

Payables to the Pension Plan

B. Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan

Plan Description

Public Schools. Statutory authority for the establishment of this Plan is provided by the Code of Virginia 

Measurement Date

and the average earnable compensation of an eligible employee during any three years that provide 

early retirement are reduced by an early retirement factor. Employees are considered vested on or after 

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
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Asset Class (Strategy)
Target 

Allocation

Arithmetic Long-
term Expected 
Rate of Return

Expected 
Geometric 

Return

8.55%

5.65%
Real Estate (direct property) 5.35%

Core Bond 54.25%
4.83% 5.65%

Total

5.48%
Portfolio Standard Deviation

45th percentile
Expected Compound Return 5.27%
55th percentile

Portfolio Investment Mix:

Contributions

actuarially determined contribution rate that is calculated each year in the Plan’s actuarial valuation 

Investment policy

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
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Concentrations

Annual Money-Weighted Rate of Return

calculated net of investment expenses.

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return

opinions.

Actuarial Assumptions

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 
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Active plan members                 
Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits                 
Inactive or disabled plan members entitled to but not receiving benefits                 

                

Normal retirement age 65 years
Benefits age
Benefits vesting years 5 years
Disability and death benefits

Long-term rate of return 5.25%
Discount rate 5.25%

Inflation

Retirement increases -                    
Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method

Open

Asset valuation method Contract Basis
Mortality - Pre-retirement 

Mortality - Post-retirement

Employee contribution percentage
Employer contribution percentage

 
Employer contribution -                    

 

Covered payroll (Annual member compensation)  
Legally-required reserves None
Long-term contribution contracts None

MEMBERSHIP AND PLAN PROVISIONS (Employees' Supplemental)

SIGNIFICANT ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS

PERCENTAGE OF COVERED PAYROLL CONTRIBUTION

Projected Cash Flows

accounting liabilities.

Discount Rate

Net Pension Liability

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
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Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
 Liability Net Position Liability

   
   Changes for the year
     Service Cost -                  
     Interest -                  
     Differences between expected 
       and actual experience -                  
    Change in assumptions -                  
    Contributions - employer -                  -                  -                  
    Contributions - employee -                  
    Net investment income -                  

        of employe contributions -                  
    Administrative expenses -                  

        Net changes

   

Changes in Net Pension Liability
Increase(Decrease)

(-1%) Current (+1%) 
Decrease Discount Rate Increase

4.25% 5.25% 6.25%

  Net Pension Liability    

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Net difference between projected and actual
  earnings on pension plan investments  - 

Changes in assumptions                
Differences between expected and actual
  experience                            

  

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (4.25%) or one percentage point 
higher (6.25%) than the current rate.

Pensions

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
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ADDITIONS
Contributions  
Investment Earnings net          

         
DEDUCTIONS
Benefit payments          
Administrative expenses             

         

Change in net position             
NET POSITION, beginning of year      

NET POSITION, end of year  

Summary of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Employees' Supplementary Retirement Plan
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Year Ending 
June 30, Amount

 
            
       
       

 

ASSETS
Bonds  

       
Other Investments        
Contribution Receivable             

     

NET POSITION
Held in trust for pension benefits  

Summary of Fiduciary Net Position
Employees' Supplementary Retirement Plan
As of June 30, 2023

Payables to the Pension Plan

million.
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A. ACPS OPEB Trust Fund

Plan Description and Plan Administration

guidance of an investment advisor. 

Eligibility
Participants in the ACPS Plan must meet the eligibility requirements based on service earned with 

• 
• 
• Attained the age of 65 with at least 5 years of service.

• 
• 
• 

current and future claims are expected to result in higher costs to the program on average than those 
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Membership and Key Actuarial Assumptions 
Active plan members 2,485 
Inactive/Deferred Vested        0 
Retirees and spouses    653 
Total 3,138 
Covered Payroll $186,786,944 
Long-term Expected Rate of Return 7.0 percent 
Salary increases, including Inflation 3.0 percent  
Ultimate Rate of Medical Inflation 4.55 percent 
Discount Rate 7.0 percent 
Healthcare Cost Trend Rates UHC POS: 6% in 2022, 10% in 2023 and 2024 

then grading to 4.55% in 2041 
Kaiser Pre-Medicare: 5% in 2022, 6% in 2021 
then grading to 4.55% in 2041 
Medicare: 3% in 2022, 6% in 2023 and 2024 
then grading to 4.55% in 2041 

Mortality rates:   
- Pre-Retirement Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Teachers 

Employee Rates projected generationally; 
110% of rates for males, no adjustment for 
females 

- Post-Retirement Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Teachers Healthy 
Retiree Rates projected generationally; 
100% of rates set forward 1 year for males; 
105% of rates for females 

- Post-Disablement Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Teachers 
Disabled Rates projected generationally; 110% 
of rates for males and females 

-Beneficiaries and Survivors Pub-2010 Amount Weighted Teachers Healthy 
Contingent Annuitant Rates projected 
generationally 

-Mortality Improvement Rates projected generationally with Modified 
MP-2020 Improvement Scale that is 75% 
of the MP-2020 rates. These mortality rates 
are the same as those used for Teachers in the 
June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation for the 
Virginia Retirement System. 

 

Actuarial Assumptions

Investment Policy
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Target Allocation for OPEB Pooled Investments
As of June 30, 2023

Investment Type Allocation

Expected Long-
Term Rates of 
Return (real)

Long-Term
Arithmetic

Weighted Average
Real Return

Large Cap Equity (Domestic)
Small Cap Equity (Domestic)
International Equity (Developed)
Emerging Markets Equity
Private Equity

2.58%

3.25%
Core Real Estate 6.54%
Opportunistic Real Estate

Inflation
Expected arithmetic nominal return

for each class of investment is shown below.

 Discount Rate

Measurement Date

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
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Total OPEB 
Liability

Plan Fiduciary 
Net Position

Net OPEB 
Liability

   

Service cost             -                                  
Interest          -                               
Changes of benefits -                   -                       -                  
Differences between expected and 
actual experience -                       -                       -                      
Changes of assumptions -                       -                       -                      
Contributions - employer -                                      
Contributions - member -                   -                       -                  
Net investment income -                                      
Benefit payments                    -                  
Administrative expense -                                                

Net changes                                   
   

85.8%

Changes in Net OPEB Liability
Increase (Decrease)

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Net of Investment Expense

Schedule of Investment Returns

Concentrations

Money-weighted Rate of Return

was was ..

Net OPEB Liability

-

years of OPEB liability. 
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Trend  Minus  (-) 
1%

Trend  
Baseline

Trend Plus (+)  
1%

   
                      

Net OPEB Liability    

85.8%

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred Inflows 
of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience -  

Change in assummptions                           

Net difference between projected and actual earnings 
on OPEB plan investments             -                      

  

(-1%) Decrease   
6.0%

Discount Rate 
7.0%

(+1%) Increase  
8.0%

   
                        

Net OPEB Liability    

85.8%

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

than the current rate.

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Trend Rate
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Year 
Ending 

June 30, Amount
 

       
          
          
          
          

 

Contributions

required contributions were actuarially-determined and are based upon projected pay-as-you go 

ASSETS
Cash Equivalents  
Bonds        

         
Other Investments          

       

NET POSITION
Held in trust for pension benefits  

Summary of Fiduciary Net Position
ACPS OPEB Trust Fund
As of June 30, 2023
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ADDITIONS
Contributions  

         
         

DEDUCTIONS
Benefit payments          
Administrative expenses               

         

Change in net position          
NET POSITION, beginning of year        

NET POSITION, end of year  

Summary of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
ACPS OPEB Trust Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

another entity.

B. VRS Employee Health Insurance Credit Program OPEB - Teachers

Code of Virginia
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TEACHER EMPLOYEE HEALTH INSURANCE CREDIT PROGRAM (HIC) PLAN 
PROVISIONS 

Eligible Employees  

 

 Eligible employees are enrolled automatically upon employment.   
-time permanent (professional) salaried employees of public school divisions covered under 

VRS. 
Benefit Amounts  

 
At Retirement  

 
Disability Retirement   retire on 
disability or go on long-

 
  
 service earned had the employee been active 

 
Health Insurance Credit Program Notes:  

 
long-

service credit to qualify for the health insurance credit as a retiree. 

General Information about the Teacher Employee Health Insurance Credit Program 
Plan Description 

free reimbursement in an amount set by the General Assembly for each year of service credit against 

retiree’s death. 

Contributions

Code of 
Virginia
Virginia General Assembly.  Each school division’s contractually required employer contribution rate 

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
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Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and 
  actual experience -  
Net difference between projected and actual

-                                  
Changes in assumptions                           
Changes in proportionate share                         
Employer contributions subsequent to the
  measurement date          -                   

  

Teacher Employee HIC Program OPEB Liabilities, Teacher Employee HIC Program OPEB Expense, 

HIC Program OPEB 

Employee HIC Program OPEB Liability was based on the school division’s actuarially determined 

related to deferred amounts from changes in proportion.   

HIC OPEB resulting from the school division’s contributions subsequent to the measurement date 

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
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Year Ending 
June 30, Amount

 
        
        
          
        
        

 

Actuarial Assumptions 

of rates for males. 

rates for males and females.

generationally.
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Mortality Rates (Pre-retirement, post-
retirement healthy, and disabled) 

Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality tables. 
For future mortality improvements, replace load 
with a modified Mortality Improvement Scale MP-
2020 

Retirement Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience for Plan 1; set 
separate rates based on experience for Plan 
2/Hybrid; changed final retirement age from 75 to 
80 for all 

Withdrawal Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience at each age 
and service decrement through 9 years of service 

Disability Rates  No change 
Salary Scale No change 
Discount Rate No change 
   

Teacher  
 Employee  
 HIC OPEB  

 Plan  
 

 
         

 
 

Net Teacher Employee HIC OPEB Liability 

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 

distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected 

expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected 

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
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Asset Class (Strategy)
Target 

Allocation

Arithmetic 
Long-term 
Expected 
Rate of 
Return

Weighted 
Average Long-
Term Expected 
Rate of Return

Public Equity

Credit Strategies
Real Assets
Private Equity
MAPS - Multi -Asset Public Strategies
PIP - Private Investment Partnership 6.55%

5.33%

Inflation
 Expected arithmetic nominal return

(-1%) Decrease Discount Rate (+1%) Increase
5.75% 6.75% 7.75%

Employee HIC OPEB Plan Net HIC OPEB Liability    

Discount Rate 

accordance with the VRS funding policy and at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution 

Sensitivity of the School Division’s Proportionate Share of the Teacher Employee HIC Net OPEB Liability 
to Changes in the Discount Rate 

proportionate share of the net HIC OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that 
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Teacher Employee HIC OPEB Fiduciary Net Position 

Payables to the Teacher Employee Health Insurance Credit Program OPEB Plan

  

and represent short-term amounts due for legally required contributions outstanding at the end of the 
year.  

C. VRS Employee Health Insurance Credit Program OPEB-Political Subdivision

plan that provides a credit toward the cost of health insurance coverage for retired political subdivision 

Code of Virginia

General Information about the VRS Employee Health Insurance Credit Program OPEB-Political 
Subdivision

exceed the amount of the premiums and ends upon the retiree’s death.
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POLITICAL SUBDIVISON HEALTH INSURANCE CREDIT PROGRAM (HIC) PLAN 
PROVISIONS 

Eligible Employees  

retired political subdivision employees of employers who elect the benefit and who retire with at least 
 

  
• Full-time permanent salaried employees of the political subdivision who are covered under the 
VRS plan. 

Benefit Amounts  
political subdivision’s Retiree Health Insurance Credit Program provides the following benefits for 

eligible employees  
• At Retirement –  per year of service per 

month with .  
• Disability Retirement – yees who retire on disability or go on long-term disability under 

 
Health Insurance Credit Program Notes:  

• The monthly Health Insurance Credit benefit cannot exceed the individual premium amount.  
• 
may receive the credit for premiums paid for other qualified health plans. 
• Employees who retire after being on the long-term dis
years of service credit to qualify for the Health Insurance Credit as a retiree.  

 

 Count

Active members 235

Vested inactive members 4
Disabled inactive members
Inactive members active elsewhere in

 the VRS system 48
Inactive members or their beneficiaries 

currently receiving benefits

343
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Contributions

 Code of Virginia

Net HIC OPEB Liability

Actuarial Assumptions
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Mortality Rates (Pre-retirement, post-
retirement healthy, and disabled) 

Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality tables. 
For future mortality improvements, replace load 
with a modified Mortality Improvement Scale MP-
2020 

Retirement Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience for Plan 1; set 
separate rates based on experience for Plan 
2/Hybrid; changed final retirement age from 75 to 
80 for all 

Withdrawal Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience at each age 
and service decrement through 9 years of service 

Disability Rates  No change 
Salary Scale No change 
Discount Rate No change 

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return

distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected 

Asset Class (Strategy)
Target 

Allocation

Arithmetic 
Long-term 
Expected 
Rate of 
Return

Weighted 
Average Long-
Term Expected 
Rate of Return

Public Equity

Credit Strategies
Real Assets
Private Equity
MAPS - Multi -Asset Public Strategies
PIP - Private Investment Partnership 6.55%

5.33%

Inflation
 Expected arithmetic nominal return
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Discount Rate

used to determine the discount rate assumed that employer contributions will be made in accordance 

Changes in Net HIC OPEB Liability

Sensitivity of the Political Subdivision Health Insurance Credit Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the 
Discount Rate

(-1%) Decrease Discount Rate (+1%) Increase
5.75% 6.75% 7.75%

Net HIC OPEB Liability    

Total OPEB 
Liability

Plan Fiduciary 
Net Position

Net OPEB 
Liability

   

Service cost                 -                                  
Interest               -                                
Change in benefit terms -                   -                   -                  
Changes of assumptions               -                                
Differences between expected and actual experience             -                         
Contributions - employer -                                           
Contributions - member -                   -                   -                  
Net investment income -                                                     
Benefit payments                    -                  
Administrative expense -                                                     
Other changes -                   -                   -                  

Net changes                                       
   

Changes in Net OPEB Liability
Increase (Decrease)
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Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Net difference between projected and actual
  earnings on Political HIC OPEB plan investments   
Changes in assumptions            -                
Employer contributions subsequent to the
  measurement date            -                

  

Health Insurance Credit Program Plan Data

Information   about    the   VRS    Political   Subdivision  Health  Insurance  Credit  

VRS website at 

Payables to the Political Subdivision Health Insurance Credit Program OPEB Plan

short-term amounts due for legally required contributions outstanding at the end of the year. 

Year Ending 
June 30, Amount

 
         

255            
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D. VRS Group Life Insurance Program  

 

Code of Virginia

General Information about the Group Life Insurance Program 
Plan Description 
 

political subdivisions are automatically covered by the VRS Group Life Insurance Program upon employment. 

 

for themselves as well as a spouse or dependent children through the Optional Group Life Insurance Program. 

the premiums. Employers deduct these premiums from members’ paychecks and pay the premiums to the 

Program OPEB.   
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GROUP LIFE INSURANCE PROGRAM PLAN PROVISIONS 
Eligible Employees  

 
• City of Richmond   
• City of Portsmouth  
• City of Roanoke  
• City of Norfolk  
• Roanoke City Schools Board  

Basic group life insurance coverage is automatic upon employment. Coverage end for 
employees who leave their position before retirement eligibility or who take a refund of 
their member contributions and accrued interest. 
Benefit Amounts  

 
• Natural Death Benefit – The natural death benefit is equal to the employee’s 
covered compensation rounded to the next highest thousand and then doubled.  
• Accidental Death Benefit – 
death benefit.  
• Other Benefit Provisions – In addition to the basic natural and accidental death 

 
o Accidental dismemberment benefit  
o Safety belt benefit  
o Repatriation benefit  

 assault benefit  
o Accelerated death benefit option 
 

Reduction in benefit Amounts  

 
Minimum Benefit Amount and Cost-of-Living Adjustment (COLA)  

 
cost-of-living adjustment calc

 3.  
 

Contributions 
 

Code of Virginia
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Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual
  experience       
Net difference between projected and actual
  earnings on GLI OPEB program investments -                              -                                -                              

Changes in assumptions                                                                             
Changes in proportion                                                                             

Employer contributions subsequent to the
  measurement date             -                                -                           -                  

      

Locality Group Total GLI OPEB ProgramTeachers Group

Year 
Ending 

June 30,

GLI - 
Teachers 
Amount

GLI - 
Locality 

Employees  
Amount

GLI - Total 
Amount

   
                       
                       
                                
                             

-                     -                 -                     
   

Resources Related to the Group Life Insurance Program OPEB 
 

covered employer’s proportion of the Net GLI OPEB Liability was based on the covered employer’s actuarially 
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Mortality Rates (Pre-retirement, postretirement 
healthy, and disabled) 

Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality tables. 
For future mortality improvements, replace load 
with modified Mortality Improvement Scale MP-
2020 
 

Retirement Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience for Plan 1; 
set separate rates based on experience for Plan 
2/Hybrid; changed final retirement age from 75 to 
80 for all 

Withdrawal Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience at each age 
and service decrement through 9 years of service 

Disability Rates  No change 
Salary Scale No change 
Discount Rate No change 

Actuarial Assumptions 

for males 

for males and females
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Mortality Rates (Pre-retirement, postretirement 
healthy, and disabled) 

Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality tables. 
For future mortality improvements, replace load 
with a modified Mortality Improvement Scale MP-
2020 
 

Retirement Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience for Plan 1; 
set separate rates based on experience for Plan 
2/Hybrid; changed final retirement age from 75 to 
80 for all 

Withdrawal Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience at each age 
and service decrement through 9 years of service.  

Disability Rates  No change 
Salary Scale No change 
Discount Rate No change 

Net GLI OPEB Liability 
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VRS Group Life
Insurance

OPEB Program

Employers’ Net GLI OPEB Liability (Asset)

Asset Class (Strategy)
Target 

Allocation

Arithmetic 
Long-term 
Expected 
Rate of 
Return

Weighted 
Average Long-
Term Expected 
Rate of Return

Public Equity

Credit Strategies
Real Assets
Private Equity
MAPS - Multi-Asset Public Strategies
PI-Private Investment Partnership 6.55%

5.33%

Inflation
 Expected arithmetic nominal return

supplementary information. 

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 

combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return 

Discount Rate

to determine the discount rate assumed that member contributions will be made per the VRS guidance and the 
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(-1%) Decrease Discount Rate (+1%) Increase
5.75% 6.75% 7.75%

   

Life Net OPEB Liability - Locality Employee Group    

   

Sensitivity of the Employer’s Proportionate Share of the Net GLI OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount 
Rate 

Group Life Insurance Program Fiduciary Net Position 

-

 

Payables to the VRS Group Life Insurance OPEB Plan

governmental funds and represent short-term amounts due for legally required contributions outstanding at 
the end of the year. 

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements



Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia

Co
m

bi
ni

ng
 S

ch
ed

ul
e 

of
 V

RS
 H

IC
 O

PE
B 

Pl
an

s 
Ne

t O
PE

B 
Li

ab
ili

tie
s,

 D
ef

er
re

d 
O

ut
flo

w
s 

an
d 

In
flo

w
s 

of
 R

es
ou

rc
es

 a
nd

 P
en

si
on

 E
xp

en
se

As
 o

f J
un

e 
30

, 2
02

3

De
fe

rr
ed

 
O

ut
flo

w
s 

of
 

Re
so

ur
ce

s

De
fe

rr
ed

 
In

flo
w

s 
of

 
Re

so
ur

ce
s

Ne
t O

PE
B 

Li
ab

ili
ty

O
PE

B 
Ex

pe
ns

e 

De
fe

rr
ed

 
O

ut
flo

w
s 

of
 

Re
so

ur
ce

s

De
fe

rr
ed

 
In

flo
w

s 
of

 
Re

so
ur

ce
s

Ne
t O

PE
B 

Li
ab

ili
ty

O
PE

B 
Ex

pe
ns

e 

De
fe

rr
ed

 
O

ut
flo

w
s 

of
 

Re
so

ur
ce

s

De
fe

rr
ed

 
In

flo
w

s 
of

 
Re

so
ur

ce
s

Ne
t O

PE
B 

Li
ab

ili
ty

O
PE

B 
Ex

pe
ns

e 
N

et
 O

PE
B 

Li
ab

ili
ty

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
D

iff
er

en
ce

s 
be

tw
ee

n 
ex

pe
ct

ed
 a

nd
 a

ct
ua

l
  e

xp
er

ie
nc

e
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

 
   

   
   

  
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

  
N

et
 d

iff
er

en
ce

 b
et

w
ee

n 
pr

oj
ec

te
d 

an
d 

ac
tu

al
  e

ar
ni

ng
s 

on
 H

IC
 O

PE
B 

pr
og

ra
m

 in
ve

st
m

en
ts

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

 
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
  

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 a

ss
um

pt
io

ns
   

   
 

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
 

   
   

 
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

  
C

ha
ng

es
 in

 p
ro

po
rti

on
 a

nd
 d

iff
er

en
ce

s
  b

et
w

ee
n 

em
pl

oy
er

 c
on

tri
bu

tio
ns

 a
nd

 
  p

ro
po

rti
on

at
e 

sh
ar

e 
of

 c
on

tri
bu

tio
ns

   
   

 
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

 
   

   
 

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
  

Em
pl

oy
er

 c
on

tri
bu

tio
ns

 s
ub

se
qu

en
t t

o 
th

e
  m

ea
su

re
m

en
t d

at
e

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

 
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
  

O
PE

B 
Ex

pe
ns

e 
-

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Co
m

bi
ni

ng
 S

ch
ed

ul
e 

of
 V

RS
 G

LI
 O

PE
B 

Pl
an

s 
Ne

t O
PE

B 
Li

ab
ili

tie
s,

 D
ef

er
re

d 
O

ut
flo

w
s 

an
d 

In
flo

w
s 

of
 R

es
ou

rc
es

 a
nd

 P
en

si
on

 E
xp

en
se

As
 o

f J
un

e 
30

, 2
02

3

De
fe

rr
ed

 
O

ut
flo

w
s 

of
 

Re
so

ur
ce

s

De
fe

rr
ed

 
In

flo
w

s 
of

 
Re

so
ur

ce
s

Ne
t O

PE
B 

Li
ab

ili
ty

O
PE

B 
Ex

pe
ns

e 

De
fe

rr
ed

 
O

ut
flo

w
s 

of
 

Re
so

ur
ce

s

De
fe

rr
ed

 
In

flo
w

s 
of

 
Re

so
ur

ce
s

Ne
t O

PE
B 

Li
ab

ili
ty

O
PE

B 
Ex

pe
ns

e 

De
fe

rr
ed

 
O

ut
flo

w
s 

of
 

Re
so

ur
ce

s

De
fe

rr
ed

 
In

flo
w

s 
of

 
Re

so
ur

ce
s

Ne
t O

PE
B 

Li
ab

ili
ty

O
PE

B 
Ex

pe
ns

e 
N

et
 O

PE
B 

Li
ab

ili
ty

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
D

iff
er

en
ce

s 
be

tw
ee

n 
ex

pe
ct

ed
 a

nd
 a

ct
ua

l
  e

xp
er

ie
nc

e
   

   
 

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

 
   

   
 

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
  

N
et

 d
iff

er
en

ce
 b

et
w

ee
n 

pr
oj

ec
te

d 
an

d 
ac

tu
al

  e
ar

ni
ng

s 
on

 G
LI

 O
PE

B 
pr

og
ra

m
 in

ve
st

m
en

ts
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

  
C

ha
ng

es
 in

 a
ss

um
pt

io
ns

   
   

 
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
 

   
   

 
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

  
C

ha
ng

es
 in

 p
ro

po
rti

on
 a

nd
 d

iff
er

en
ce

s
  b

et
w

ee
n 

em
pl

oy
er

 c
on

tri
bu

tio
ns

 a
nd

 
  p

ro
po

rti
on

at
e 

sh
ar

e 
of

 c
on

tri
bu

tio
ns

   
   

 
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
 

   
   

 
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

  
Em

pl
oy

er
 c

on
tri

bu
tio

ns
 s

ub
se

qu
en

t t
o 

th
e

  m
ea

su
re

m
en

t d
at

e
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

 
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
  

O
PE

B 
Ex

pe
ns

e 
-

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

   
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Su
m

m
ar

y 
of

 O
PE

B 
Re

la
te

d 
Ne

t O
PE

B 
Li

ab
ili

tie
s,

  D
ef

er
re

d 
O

ut
flo

w
s 

an
d 

In
flo

w
s 

of
 R

es
ou

rc
es

 a
nd

 P
en

si
on

 E
xp

en
se

As
 o

f J
un

e 
30

, 2
02

3

De
fe

rr
ed

 
O

ut
flo

w
s 

of
 

Re
so

ur
ce

s

De
fe

rr
ed

 
In

flo
w

s 
of

 
Re

so
ur

ce
s

Ne
t O

PE
B 

Li
ab

ili
ty

O
PE

B 
Ex

pe
ns

e 

De
fe

rr
ed

 
O

ut
flo

w
s 

of
 

Re
so

ur
ce

s

De
fe

rr
ed

 
In

flo
w

s 
of

 
Re

so
ur

ce
s

Ne
t O

PE
B 

Li
ab

ili
ty

O
PE

B 
Ex

pe
ns

e 

De
fe

rr
ed

 
O

ut
flo

w
s 

of
 

Re
so

ur
ce

s

De
fe

rr
ed

 
In

flo
w

s 
of

 
Re

so
ur

ce
s

Ne
t O

PE
B 

Li
ab

ili
ty

O
PE

B 
Ex

pe
ns

e 

De
fe

rr
ed

 
O

ut
flo

w
s 

of
 

Re
so

ur
ce

s

De
fe

rr
ed

 
In

flo
w

s 
of

 
Re

so
ur

ce
s

Ne
t O

PE
B 

Li
ab

ili
ty

O
PE

B 
Ex

pe
ns

e 

N
et

 O
PE

B 
Li

ab
ili

ty
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

D
iff

er
en

ce
s 

be
tw

ee
n 

ex
pe

ct
ed

 a
nd

 a
ct

ua
l

  e
xp

er
ie

nc
e

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
 

   
   

 
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

N
et

 d
iff

er
en

ce
 b

et
w

ee
n 

pr
oj

ec
te

d 
an

d 
ac

tu
al

  e
ar

ni
ng

s 
on

 O
PE

B 
pl

an
 in

ve
st

m
en

ts
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
C

ha
ng

es
 in

 a
ss

um
pt

io
ns

   
   

 
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
 

   
   

 
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
C

ha
ng

es
 in

 p
ro

po
rti

on
 a

nd
 d

iff
er

en
ce

s
  b

et
w

ee
n 

em
pl

oy
er

 c
on

tri
bu

tio
ns

 a
nd

 
  p

ro
po

rti
on

at
e 

sh
ar

e 
of

 c
on

tri
bu

tio
ns

-
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

 
   

   
 

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

  

Em
pl

oy
er

 c
on

tri
bu

tio
ns

 s
ub

se
qu

en
t t

o 
th

e
  m

ea
su

re
m

en
t d

at
e

-
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
 

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

O
PE

B 
Ex

pe
ns

e 
   

   
  

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

   
   

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

VR
S 

HI
C 

O
PE

B 
Pr

og
ra

m

VR
S 

G
LI

 O
PE

B 
Pr

og
ra

m

To
ta

l O
PE

B 
Pr

og
ra

m
s

G
LI

 O
PE

B 
Pr

og
ra

m

Te
ac

he
rs

 G
ro

up
Po

lit
ic

al
 S

ub
di

vi
si

on
 G

ro
up

To
ta

l V
RS

 H
IC

 O
PE

B 
Pr

og
ra

m

Te
ac

he
rs

 G
ro

up
Po

lit
ic

al
 S

ub
di

vi
si

on
 G

ro
up

To
ta

l V
RS

 H
IC

 O
PE

B 
Pr

og
ra

m

AC
PS

 O
PE

B 
Tr

us
t

VR
S 

HI
C 

O
PE

B 
Pr

og
ra

m

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements



Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia

Portion  in
Balance Balance Governmental Long-term

Additions Reductions Payable

  -     
                                                                      
                                             -                        
                                                       -                             

Net Pension Liablitiy                        -                 -                      
Net OPEB Liability                                -                 -                        

       

 
            

Accrued Interest Payable- Subscription Liability                
          
       
       

 
*

NOTE 9. Long-term Liabilities

full accrual is composed of the items in the table below. 

Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements 

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
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NOTE 10. Risk Management

losses in those areas where it believes it is more economical to manage risks internally and account for 

physical damage and general liability insurance through the Virginia Municipal League. Settled claims 
resulting from these risks have not exceeded commercial reinsurance coverage for the past three years. 

medical insurance for Virginia High School League Student participants.

Self-Insurance

ACPS is self-insured for workers’ compensation. Claims are processed by a third-party administrator 

available to pay the claims. 

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
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 IBNR Accrual 
(Health Benefits Compensation 

  

Claims and changes in estimates                   

Claims payments                 

                    

Claims and changes in estimates                      

Claims payments                    

  

  

Liabilities for workers compensation and self-insured health programs are reported when it is probable 
that losses have occurred and the amounts of the losses can be reasonably estimated. Liabilities 
include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported to date. Liabilities are determined 
using a combination of actual historical claims experience and actuarially determined amounts and 
include incremental claim adjustment expenses and estimated recoveries. ACPS uses independent 
contractors to process workers compensation and health  claims and records a provision and liability in 

of incurred but not reported claims.

Exceptions to the self-insurance program are made when insurance coverage is available and when 

Changes in the estimated claims payable for worker’s compensation and self-insured health programs 

NOTE 11. Commitments and Contingencies

funds are subject to audit by the grantors. ACPS is contingently liable to refund amounts received in 

required as a result of expenditures disallowed by the grantor agencies.
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Governmental Fund Balances

General
Capital 

Projects

Grants and 
Special 

Revenue
School 

Nutrition
FUND BALANCES:
Nonspendable:

Prepaid Items  - -  
Inventories -               -               -                        

       Total Nonspendable 1,919,049       -               -               331,388         
Spendable

Restricted for:
   Capital Projects -                        -               -               

-               -                        -               
   School Nutrition Program -               -               -                     
       Total Restricted -                                       
Committed for:

       -               -               -               
       Total Committed        -               -               -               
Assigned for:

          -               -               -               
       Total Assigned           -               -               -               
Unassigned:

       -               -               -               
       Total Unassigned        -               -               -               
       Total Spendable 19,078,456     663,916         884,114         5,996,487      

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 20,997,505$   663,916$       884,114$       6,327,875$    

NOTE 12. Fund Balance Disclosure

Financial Section-Notes to the Basic Financial Statements



The Required Supplementary Information 
subsection includes:

• Budgetary comparison schedule for the 
General Fund

• Budgetary comparison schedule for the 
Grants and Special Projects Fund

• Budgetary comparison schedule for the 
School Nutrition Fund

• Schedule of employer contributions for 

trust funds

• Schedule of changes in net pension 
and OPEB liabilities for the Pension and 
OPEB trust funds

Alexandria City Public Schools
A Component Unit of the City of Alexandria, Virginia

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
 (Unaudited)

Strategic Plan Goal - Strategic Resource Allocation

supports to schools and departments.



Exhibit IX

Variance from
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Over/(Under)
Revenues
Intergovernmental:

City of Alexandria 248,737,300$   248,737,300$    248,737,300$    -$                   
State aid 61,417,000       61,417,000        61,973,504        556,504             
Federal aid 140,000            140,000             147,326             7,326                 

Tuition and fees 398,000            398,000             202,975             (195,025)            
Other local funds 615,000            615,000             788,301             173,301             

Total Revenues 311,307,300     311,307,300      311,849,406      542,106             

Expenditures
General instruction 239,986,717     241,209,774      234,096,211      (7,113,563)         
Adult education 736,806            737,006             766,249             29,243               
Summer school and kindergarten prep 1,269,724         1,148,732          1,501,434          352,702             
Administration 24,670,674       24,862,894        21,139,833        (3,723,061)         
Attendance and health services 8,169,304         8,226,659          7,979,591          (247,068)            
Pupil transportation 11,848,812       11,999,443        12,022,908        23,465               
Plants operations and maintenance 25,024,088       25,256,545        27,424,558        2,168,013          
Food services 899,915            927,346             809,515             (117,831)            
Capital improvement services -                   -                    1,273,098          1,273,098          
Debt Service:
    Principal 3,196,547         3,196,547          3,659,450          462,903             
    Interest 386,750            386,750             389,224             2,474                 

Total Expenditures 316,189,337     317,951,696      311,062,071      (6,889,625)         

(4,882,037)        (6,644,396)        787,335             7,431,731          
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
       Transfers Out (1,863,300)        (1,863,300)        (1,678,525)        (184,775)            
       Proceeds - Capital Lease / SBITA 1,200,000         1,200,000          1,273,098          73,098               
       Contribution to City Capital Programs (3,774,100)        (3,774,100)        (3,774,100)        -                    

(4,437,400)        (4,437,400)        (4,179,527)        (111,677)            

(9,319,437)$      (11,081,796)$     (3,392,192)        7,320,054$        

Fund Balance - July 1, 2022 24,389,697        

Fund Balance - June 30, 2023 20,997,505$      

See accompanying note to the budgetary comparison schedule.

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over (under) 
expenditures 

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over (under) 
expenditures and other financing sources (uses)

Budget

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

General Fund
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

Total Other Financing Sources and (Uses), net
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Exhibit X

Variance from
final budget

Over
Original Final Actual (Under)

Revenues
Intergovernmental:
   City of Alexandria -$                  -$                -$                -$                  

State aid 4,416,633         7,472,072       5,071,602       (2,400,470)        
Federal aid 11,125,747       65,355,585     31,268,684     (34,086,901)      

Fees -                    43,755            838,296          794,541             
Other local revenue 204,984            725,341          914,818          189,477             

Total Revenues 15,747,364       73,596,753     38,093,400     (35,503,353)      

Expenditures
Current:
General instruction 16,923,676       44,067,077     28,420,536     (15,646,541)      
Adult education 468,867            565,317          453,025          (112,292)           
Summer school and Kindergarten prep -                    477,010          215,660          (261,350)           
Administration 64,285              6,865,064       2,894,279       (3,970,785)        
Plants operations and maintenance 15,930              7,713,409       1,482,553       (6,230,856)        
Attendance and health services 3,500                2,379,412       1,538,077       (841,335)           
Pupil transportation 10,000              3,820,164       4,631,608       811,444             
Food services 38,966              167,614          122,163          (45,451)             
Capital improvement services -                    -                  116,905          116,905             
Debt Service
   Principal 88,906              88,906            88,906            -                    
   Interest 34                     34                   34                   -                    

Total Expenditures 17,614,164       66,144,007     39,963,746     26,180,261        

(1,866,800)        7,452,746       (1,870,346)      (9,323,092)        

Other Financing Sources
Proceeds - Capital asset subscriptions -                    -                  116,905          116,905             
Transfers In 1,863,300         1,863,300       1,678,525       (184,775)           

Total Other Financing Sources 1,863,300         1,863,300       1,795,430       (67,870)             

(3,500)$             9,316,046$     (74,916)           (9,390,962)$      

Fund Balance-July 1, 2022 959,030          

Fund Balance-June 30, 2023 884,114$        

See accompanying note to the budgetary comparison schedule.

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over (under) 
expenditures 

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over (under) 
expenditures and other financing sources

Budget

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
Grants and Special Revenue Fund
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Exhibit XI

Variance from
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Over/(Under)

Revenues
Intergovernmental:
   City of Alexandria -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                      

State aid 211,648             211,648             195,050             (16,598)                 
Federal aid 9,523,250          10,132,974        9,464,507          (668,467)               

Food Sales 2,127,588          2,127,588          1,739,713          (387,875)               
Other local revenue 175,000             175,000             222,334             47,334                  

Total Revenues 12,037,486        12,647,210        11,621,604        (1,025,606)            

Expenditures
Summer school and kindergarten prep -                     -                     86,154               86,154                  
Food services 12,037,486        12,817,973        11,100,045        (1,717,928)            
Capital improvement services -                     -                     75,977               75,977                  
Debt Service

   Principal -                     -                     38,335               -                        
   Interest -                     -                     -                     38,335                  

Total Expenditures 12,037,486        12,817,973        11,300,511        1,517,462             

-                  (170,763)            321,093             491,856                

Other Financing Sources 

Proceeds - Capital assets subscriptions -                     -                     75,977               75,977                  

-                     -                     75,977               75,977                  

-$                   (170,763)$          397,070             567,833$              

Fund Balance- July 1, 2022 5,930,805          

Fund Balance- June 30, 2023 6,327,875$        

See accompanying note to the budgetary comparison schedule.

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over (under) 
expenditures and other financing sources

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) 
expenditures 

Budget

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
School Nutrition Fund

Total Other Financing Sources 
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Exhibit XII-1

Contributions
Actuarially/ in Relation to Contributions 

Contractually Actuarially/ Contribution as a % of % of Actual
Fiscal Required Contractually Deficiency Covered Covered Contributions
Year Contribution Required Contributions (Excess) Payroll (2) Payroll Contributed

Employees' Supplemental  Retirement Plan (3)

2022 12,060,241$       -                             12,060,241$    176,147,589$     0.00% 0.00%

2021 12,119,071         -                             12,119,071      169,099,717       0.00% 0.00%

2020 8,185,137           -                             8,185,137        164,227,612       0.00% 0.00%

2019 5,332,912           -                             5,332,912        164,150,550       0.00% 0.00%

2018 4,619,357           -                             4,619,357        157,315,417       0.00% 0.00%

2017 4,224,325           -                             4,224,325        145,803,885       0.00% 0.00%

2016 3,056,634           -                             3,056,634        140,366,382       0.00% 0.00%

2015 1,388,123           -                             1,388,123        130,993,574       0.00% 0.00%

2014 350,409              -                             350,409           123,779,616       0.00% 0.00%

VRS Political Subdivision Retirement Plan 

2023 103,457              112,927                         (9,470)              8,550,150           1.32% 109.15%

2022 100,792              105,347                         (4,555)              8,329,909           1.26% 104.52%

2021 94,034                97,153                           (3,119)              7,771,386           1.25% 103.32%

2020 92,765                106,892                         (14,128)            7,666,503           1.39% 115.23%
2019 93,297                93,297                           -                   7,942,569           1.17% 100.00%
2018 95,406                95,406                           -                   8,138,526           1.17% 100.00%
2017 180,262              186,598                         (6,336)              8,011,663           2.33% 103.51%

2016 440,195              479,241                         (39,046)            7,804,877           6.14% 108.87%

2015 425,527              428,373                         (2,846)              7,544,808           5.68% 100.67%

2014 408,745              416,920                         (8,175)              7,527,538           5.54% 102.00%

VRS Teacher Retirement Plan

2023 29,326,932         29,326,932                    -                   176,147,589       16.65% 100.00%

2022 28,129,418         28,129,418                    -                   169,099,717       16.63% 100.00%

2021 27,290,500         27,290,500                    -                   164,227,612       16.62% 100.00%

2020 25,738,806         25,738,806                    -                   164,150,550       15.68% 100.00%
2019 24,683,324         24,683,324                    -                   157,315,417       15.69% 100.00%
2018 24,476,058         24,230,449                    245,610           149,975,848       16.16% 99.00%
2017 21,522,886         22,156,329                    (633,443)          146,813,686       15.09% 102.94%

2016 19,874,324         21,900,603                    (2,026,280)       141,353,655       15.49% 110.20%

2015 18,771,021         18,953,112                    (182,091)          133,506,551       14.20% 100.97%

2014 15,038,409         14,820,359                    218,050           128,974,348       11.49% 98.55%

(1)

(2)

(3)

Covered payroll amount for 2015 was restated from prior year and calculated as defined by Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board Statement No. 82 - Pension Issues

Information is only available for the fiscal years shown.  Future years will be added to the schedule.

The required contribution shown for the Employees' Supplemental Plan was actuarially determined.

Last 10 Fiscal Years (1)

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Required Supplementary Information

Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds
For the Fiscal year Ended June 30, 2023

Schedule of Employer Contributions - Pension Plans
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Exhibit XII-2

Contributions
Actuarially/ in Relation to Contributions 

Contractually Actuarially/ Contribution as a % of % of Actual
Fiscal Required Contractually Deficiency Covered Covered Contributions
Year Contribution Required Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll Contributed

Last 10 Fiscal Years (1)

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Required Supplementary Information
Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

For the Fiscal year Ended June 30, 2023

Schedule of Employer Contributions - OPEB
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Exhibit XII-2
Continued

Contributions
Actuarially/ in Relation to Contributions 

Contractually Actuarially/ Contribution as a % of % of Actual
Fiscal Required Contractually Deficiency Covered Covered Contributions
Year Contribution Required Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll Contributed

Last 10 Fiscal Years

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Required Supplementary Information
Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

For the Fiscal year Ended June 30, 2023

Schedule of Employer Contributions - OPEB
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Exhibit XIII-1

Employees' Supplementary Retirement Plan

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Total Pension Liability

Service costs 6,622,862$     4,905,857$          3,930,063$          3,759,230$         3,675,300$            3,102,017$           2,603,388$         2,573,225$       2,462,314$     
Interest 8,581,713       8,666,457            8,155,001            7,846,392           7,547,568              7,394,011             6,578,948           6,378,985         6,243,019       
Differences between expected and actual 
experience 1,939,951       (380,027)             68,199                 106,300              26,190                   85,946                  998,161              140,424            (475,091)         
Benefit payments (6,628,409)      (6,368,090)          (6,302,704)          (6,191,280)         (6,056,406)            (6,210,504)            (6,157,529)          (5,918,926)        (5,712,337)      
Change in assumptions (19,846,886)    24,746,787          14,870,418          (524,581)            (193,103)               7,007,931             8,012,677           -                  -                

Net Changes in Total Pension Liability (9,330,769)      31,570,984          20,720,977          4,996,061           4,999,549              11,379,401           12,035,645         3,173,708         2,517,905       

Total Pension Liability, beginning 187,638,149   156,067,165        135,346,188        130,350,127       125,350,578          113,971,177         101,935,532       98,761,824       96,243,919     

Total Pension Liability, ending 178,307,380$ 187,638,149$      156,067,165$      135,346,188$     130,350,127$        125,350,578$       113,971,177$     101,935,532$   98,761,824$   

Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions- Employee 2,899,057$     2,736,256$          2,692,796$          2,583,399$         2,465,342$            2,429,572$           2,508,919$         2,032,505$       2,171,044$     
Contributions- Employer -                -                    -                    -                   -                      -                      -                    -                  -                
Net investment income (11,405,095)    13,587,071          8,415,730            4,462,234           8,273,362              10,194,794           6,481,332           (840,277)           13,644,193     
Benefit payments (6,628,409)      (6,368,090)          (6,302,704)          (6,191,280)         (6,056,406)            (6,210,504)            (6,157,529)          (5,918,926)        (5,712,337)      
Administrative expenses (242,255)         (242,705)             (235,488)             (235,835)            (335,316)               (40,660)                 (85,748)               (124,855)           (111,595)         
Net Changes in Fiduciary Net Position (15,376,702)    9,712,532            4,570,334            618,518              4,346,982              6,373,202             2,746,974           (4,851,553)        9,991,305       

Fiduciary Net Position, beginning 142,107,024   132,394,492        127,824,158        127,205,640       122,858,658          116,485,456         113,738,482       118,590,035     108,598,730   

Fiduciary Net Position, ending 126,730,322$ 142,107,024$      132,394,492$      127,824,158$     127,205,640$        122,858,658$       116,485,456$     113,738,482$   118,590,035$ 

Net Pension Liability (Asset), as of August 31, 51,577,058$   45,531,125$        23,672,673$        7,522,030$         3,144,487$            2,491,920$           (2,514,279)$        (11,802,950)$    (19,828,211)$  

Fiduciary Net Position as a percentage of Total 
Pension Liability 71.07% 75.73% 84.83% 94.44% 97.59% 98.01% 102.21% 111.58% 120.08%

Covered Payroll 173,250,599$ 169,314,176$      164,529,061$      157,938,950$     149,826,081$        145,803,885$       140,366,382$     130,993,574$   123,779,616$ 

Net Pension Liability as a percentage of 
Covered Payroll 29.77% 26.89% 14.39% 4.76% 2.10% 1.71% -1.79% -9.01% -16.02%

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 (2)

Employees' Supplementary Retirement Plan -8.16% 10.44% 6.69% 3.57% 6.85% 8.91% 5.80% -0.72% 12.79%

(1) Information is only available for the fiscal years shown. Future years will be added to the schedule.
(2)

Last 10 Fiscal Years (1)

Covered payroll amount for 2014 was restated and calculated as defined by Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 82 - Pension Issues

Money-Weighted Rate of Return

Last 10 Fiscal Years (1)

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Required Supplementary Information

Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds
For the Fiscal year Ended June 30, 2023

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
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Exhibit XIII-2

VRS  - Political Subdivision Retirement Plan (Non-Professional)

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Total Pension Liability

Service costs 668,355$         695,580$         698,590$        718,880$       747,214$       761,926$       754,823$       758,027$       796,338$       
Interest 3,046,189        2,929,383        2,908,527       2,927,788      2,862,468      2,818,335      2,716,423      2,731,791      2,642,578      
Differences between expected and actual 
experience (1,279,300)       (1,566,069)       (803,167)         (1,046,591)    (139,735)       (332,554)       260,117         (1,408,359)    -              
Changes in assumptions -                 1,471,608        -                1,119,429      -              (229,485)       -              -              -              
Benefit payments (2,297,273)       (2,461,866)       (2,286,622)      (2,413,284)    (2,512,594)    (2,262,896)    (2,244,877)    (2,271,322)    (1,965,795)    
Refund of Contributions -                   (177,633)          (63,845)           (147,752)       -                -                (43,180)         (42,623)         (49,162)         

Net Changes in Total Pension Liability 137,971           891,003           453,483          1,158,470      957,353         755,326         1,443,306      (232,486)       1,423,959      

Total Pension Liability, beginning 45,609,013      44,718,010      44,264,527     43,106,057    42,148,704    41,393,378    39,950,072    40,182,558    38,758,599    

Total Pension Liability, ending 45,746,984$    45,609,013$    44,718,010$   44,264,527$  43,106,057$  42,148,704$  41,393,378$  39,950,072$  40,182,558$  

Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions- Employer -$                 58$                  68,525$          71,642$         158,036$       161,966$       436,893$       428,560$       410,609$       
Contributions- Employee 385,286           365,306           365,985          368,198         384,967         390,792         388,435         393,832         379,449         
Net investment income (37,009)            12,910,551      927,946          3,127,139      3,409,511      5,185,761      735,046         1,959,825      6,037,662      
Benefit payments (2,297,273)       (2,639,499)       (2,286,622)      (2,413,284)    (2,512,594)    (2,262,896)    (2,244,877)    (2,271,322)    (1,965,795)    
Refunds of Contributions -                 -                 (63,845)           (147,752)       -              -              (43,180)         (42,623)         (49,162)         
Administrative expenses (36,921)            (33,452)            (32,633)           (32,402)         (30,490)         (31,000)         (27,814)         (27,928)         (33,280)         
Other 1,299               1,205               (1,085)             (1,961)           (2,989)           (4,572)           (318)              (411)              319                

Net Changes in Fiduciary Net Position (1,984,618)       10,604,169      (1,021,729)      971,580         1,406,441      3,440,051      (755,815)       439,933         4,779,802      

Fiduciary Net Position, beginning 58,710,142      48,105,973      49,127,702     48,156,122    46,749,681    43,309,630    44,065,445    43,625,512    38,845,710    

Fiduciary Net Position, ending 56,725,524$    58,710,142$    48,105,973$   49,127,702$  48,156,122$  46,749,681$  43,309,630$  44,065,445$  43,625,512$  

Net Pension Liability (Asset), as of June 30, (10,978,540)$   (13,101,129)$   (3,387,963)$    (4,863,175)$  (5,050,065)$  (4,600,977)$  (1,916,252)$  (4,115,373)$  (3,442,954)$  

Fiduciary Net Position as a percentage of Total 
Pension Liability 124.00% 128.72% 107.58% 110.99% 111.72% 110.92% 104.63% 110.30% 108.57%

Covered Payroll 8,565,437$      8,314,047$      7,795,016$     7,710,494$    7,884,781$    8,011,663$    7,804,877$    7,544,808$    7,527,538$    

Net Pension Liability (Asset) as a percentage 
of Covered Payroll -128.17% -157.58% -43.46% -63.07% -64.05% -57.43% -24.55% -54.55% -45.74%

(1)

(2) Covered payroll amount for 2014 was restated from prior year and calculated as defined by Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 82 - Pension Issues

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset)
Last 10 Fiscal Years (1)

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Required Supplementary Information

Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds
For the Fiscal year Ended June 30, 2023

Information is only available for the fiscal years shown. Future years will be added to the schedule.
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Exhibit XIII-3

VRS Teacher Retirement Plan
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Employer's Proportion of the Net Pension 
Liability 1.793240% 1.832620% 1.843400% 1.852470% 1.835850% 1.847580% 1.852630% 1.801550% 1.770720%

Employer's Proportionate Share of the Net  
Pension Liability 170,727,183$  142,268,075$  268,263,110$  243,795,579$  215,896,000$  227,215,000$  259,630,000$  226,749,000$  213,986,000$  

Employer's Covered Payroll (2) 176,455,669$  169,250,408$  164,202,770$  163,895,917$  157,419,158$  146,813,686$  141,353,655$  133,506,551$  128,974,348$  

Employer's Proportionate Share of the Net 
Pension Liability as a Percentage  of its 
Covered Payroll 96.75% 84.06% 163.37% 148.75% 137.15% 154.76% 183.67% 169.84% 165.91%

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of 
the Total Pension Liability 82.61% 85.46% 71.47% 73.51% 74.81% 72.92% 68.28% 70.68% 70.88%

Covered payroll amount for 2015 was restated from prior year and calculated as defined by Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 82 - Pension Issues

Information is only avaiable for the fiscal years  shown.  Future years will be added to the schedule.

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Required Supplementary Information

Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds
For the Fiscal year Ended June 30, 2023

Schedule of Employer's Share of Net Pension Liability
Last 10 Fiscal Years (1)
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Exhibit XIII-4

Other Employee Benefits Trust Fund

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2018 2017
Total OPEB Liability

Service costs 988,491$        1,100,364$     1,060,180$     1,208,445$     1,177,364$     1,119,634$     1,119,634$     1,065,890$      
Interest 2,196,903       2,206,203       2,149,474       2,243,462       2,197,977       2,159,080       2,159,080       2,022,196        
Change of benefit terms -                -                -                (1,188,091)      -                -                -                -                
Differences between expected and actual experience -                (3,259,578)      -                (3,063,897)      -                (2,071,966)      (2,071,966)      -                
Changes in asummptions -                (413,248)         -                (884,552)         -                432,426          432,426          -                
Benefit payments (1,134,990)      (882,270)         (881,633)         (938,930)         (1,551,418)      (902,946)         (902,946)         (1,492,636)      

Net Changes in Total OPEB Liability 2,050,404       (1,248,529)      2,328,021       (2,623,563)      1,823,923       736,228          736,228          1,595,450        

Total OPEB Liability, beginning 31,184,287     32,432,816     30,104,795     32,728,358     30,904,435     30,168,207     30,168,207     28,572,757      

Total OPEB Liability, ending 33,234,691$   31,184,287$   32,432,816$   30,104,795$   32,728,358$   30,904,435$   30,904,435$   30,168,207$    

Fiduciary Net Position
Contributions- Employer 1,134,990$     1,928,807$     881,633$        938,930$        2,482,483$     1,792,946$     1,792,946$     2,269,646$      
Contributions- Employee -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                
Net investment income 2,020,535       (2,703,072)      6,522,171       644,350          921,954          1,605,675       1,605,675       1,831,086        
Benefit payments (1,134,990)      (882,270)         (881,633)         (938,930)         (1,551,418)      (902,946)         (902,946)         (1,492,636)      
Administrative expenses (24,901)           (28,644)           (24,438)           (23,924)           (21,365)           (19,245)           (19,245)           (17,371)           
Net Changes in Total OPEB Liability 1,995,634       (1,685,179)      6,497,733       620,426          1,831,654       2,476,430       2,476,430       2,590,725        

Fiduciary Net Position, beginning 26,511,019     28,196,198     21,698,465     21,078,039     19,246,385     16,769,955     16,769,955     14,179,230      

Fiduciary Net Position, ending 28,506,653$   26,511,019$   28,196,198$   21,698,465$   21,078,039$   19,246,385$   19,246,385$   16,769,955$    

Net OPEB Liability as of June 30, 4,728,038$     4,673,268$     4,236,618$     8,406,330$     11,650,319$   11,658,050$   11,658,050$   13,398,252$    

Fiduciary Net Position as a percentage of Total 
OPEB Liability 85.77% 85.01% 86.94% 72.08% 64.40% 62.28% 62.28% 55.59%

Covered Payroll 186,786,944$ 181,346,548$ 174,733,455$ 169,644,131$ 164,994,126$ 160,188,472$ 160,188,472$ 150,313,298$  

Net OPEB Liability as a percentage of Covered 
Payroll 2.53% 2.58% 2.42% 4.96% 7.06% 7.28% 7.28% 8.91%

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Other Employee Benefit Trust Fund 7.62% -9.27% 30.07% 3.01% 4.67% 9.52% 13.04%

(1) Information is only available for the fiscal years shown. Future years will be added to the schedule.

Money-Weighted Rate of Return
Last 10 Fiscal Years (1)

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Required Supplementary Information

Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds
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Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability
Last 10 Fiscal Years (1)
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Exhibit XIII-5

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
VRS Healthcare Credit Insurance Program-Teachers
Employer's Proportion of the Net HCI OPEB 
Liability 1.81574% 1.85656% 1.86936% 1.87679% 1.85325% 1.86478%

Employer's Proportionate Share of the Net HCI 
OPEB Liability 22,679,437$      23,830,232$      24,386,110$   24,569,006$   23,530,000$   23,657,000$   

Employer's Covered Payroll 169,229,734$    164,193,112$    163,882,612$ 157,419,158$ 149,879,391$ 147,168,488$ 

Employer's Proportionate Share of the Net HCI 
OPEB Liability as a Percentage  of its Covered 
Payroll 13.40% 14.51% 14.88% 15.61% 15.70% 16.07%

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of 
the Total HCI OPEB Liability 15.08% 13.15% 9.95% 8.97% 8.08% 7.04%

VRS Healthcare Credit Insurance Program-Political Subdivisions
Employer's Proportion of the Net HCI OPEB 
Liability 1.10198% 1.24615%

Employer's Proportionate Share of the Net HCI 
OPEB Liability 596,525$           607,984$           

Employer's Covered Payroll 8,314,047$        7,795,016$        

Employer's Proportionate Share of the Net HCI 
OPEB Liability as a Percentage  of its Covered 
Payroll 7.17% 7.80%

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of 
the Total HCI OPEB Liability 39.63% 40.52%

VRS Group Life Insurance Program - Teachers
Employer's Proportion of the Net GLI OPEB 
Liability 0.78074% 0.79247% 0.79551% 0.80828% 0.79308% 0.81094%

Employer's Proportionate Share of the Net GLI 
OPEB Liability 9,400,862$        9,226,501$        13,275,760$   13,152,867$   12,045,000$   12,203,000$   

Employer's Covered Payroll 169,830,304$    163,614,923$    163,717,636$ 158,449,359$ 150,802,833$ 149,975,848$ 

Employer's Proportionate Share of the Net GLI 
OPEB Liability as a Percentage  of its Covered 
Payroll 5.53% 5.64% 8.11% 8.30% 7.99% 8.14%

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of 
the Total GLI OPEB Liability 67.21% 67.45% 52.64% 52.00% 51.22% 48.86%

VRS Group Life Insurance Program - State/Locality Employees
Employer's Proportion of the Net GLI OPEB 
Liability 0.03790% 0.03723% 0.03692% 0.04033% 0.04283% 0.04392%

Employer's Proportionate Share of the Net GLI 
OPEB Liability 456,353$           433,459$           616,134$        656,276$        651,000$        661,000$        

Employer's Covered Payroll 8,244,905$        7,687,739$        7,598,955$     7,906,098$     8,143,594$     8,138,526$     

Employer's Proportionate Share of the Net GLI 
OPEB Liability as a Percentage  of its Covered 
Payroll 5.53% 5.64% 8.11% 8.30% 7.99% 8.12%

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of 
the Total GLI OPEB Liability 67.21% 67.45% 52.64% 52.00% 51.22% 48.86%

(1) This schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Since 2022 is the sixth year for this presentation, there 
are only six years available. Additional years will be displayed as they become available.

Last 10 Fiscal Years (1)

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
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A. Budgetary information

The Superintendent is required by Section 22.1-92 of the Code of Virginia to prepare, with the approval 
of the Board, and submit to the City Council a General Fund budget request of the amount needed 

for the requested budget. The City Council is also required by City Charter to hold a public hearing on 
the General Fund budget at which time all interested persons are given an opportunity to comment. The 
legal level of budgetary control for the General Fund and Special Revenue Funds is at the departmental 
level.

Formal budgetary integration, including encumbrance accounting, is employed as a management 

basis of accounting. Accordingly, the accompanying Budgetary Comparison Schedule presents GAAP 
expenditures.  Management is authorized to transfer funds within major categories of expenditure (i.e., 

the approval of the superintendent; however, revisions that alter the total expenditures of the General 
Fund must be approved by the School Board. The legally-adopted budget cannot be exceeded.

Multiple year trend information for the Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan, the VRS Teacher 
Retirement Plan, the VRS Political Subdivision Retirement Plan, as well as Other Post-Employment 

intended to help users assess the funding status on a going concern basis, and the progress made in 

For the Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan, the VRS Teacher Retirement Plan and the VRS 
Political Subdivision Retirement Plan and the OPEB Trust Fund, the schedule of employer contributions 
provides a comparison of the actuarially/contractually required contributions with actual contributions. 
Actuarially/contractually required contributions are also shown as a percentage of covered payroll, as 

pensionable payroll of employees that are provided with pensions through the pension plan.

Information pertaining to the Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan, VRS Teacher and Political 
Subdivision Plans and the OPEB Trust Fund can be found in notes 7 and 8, respectively, in the notes to 

C. Retirement Plan Changes 

For the VRS Political Subdivision Retirement Plan and VRS Teachers Retirement Plan,

provisions since the prior actuarial valuation.

Financial-Required Supplementary Information



Mortality Rates (Pre-retirement, 
post-retirement heathy, and 
disabled 

Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality 
tables. For future mortality improvements, 
replace load with a modified Mortality 
Improvement Scale MP-2020 

Retirement Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience for Plan 
1; set separate rates based on experience for 
Plan 2/Hybrid; changed final retirement age 
from 75 to 80 for all  

Withdrawal Rates Adjusted rates to better fit experience at each 
year age and service through 9 years of 
service 

Disability Rates No change 
Salary Scale No change 
Discount Rate No change 
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The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2021, valuation for 
the VRS Political Subdivision Retirement Plan and VRS Teachers Retirement Plan, were based 
on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period from July 1, 2016, through June 30, 

of July 1, 2019. Changes to the actuarial assumptions as a result of the experience study and VRS 
Board action are as follows:

For the Employees’ Supplemental Retirement Plan, 

There have been no actuarially material changes to the System 

 The following actuarial assumptions were changed.

Discount rate The discount rate has increased from 4.50% to 
5.25% 

The long-term rate of return for the 
current year 

The long-term rate of return for the current 
year has increased from 4.50% to 5.25% 

Inflation rate The inflation rate has increased from 2.25% to 
2.40% 

Comp limit The comp limit has increased from 2.25% to 
2.40% 

Wage base increase rate The wage base increase limit has increased 
from 3.25% to 3.50% 

D. ACPS OPEB Trust Fund

For the ACPS OPEB Trust Fund, 

changes.
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Mortality Rates (Pre-retirement, 
post-retirement healthy, and 
disabled) 

Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality 
tables. For future mortality improvements, 
replace load with a modified Mortality 
Improvement Scale MP-2020 
 

Retirement Rates 
 

Adjusted rates to better fit experience for 
Plan 1; set separate rates based on 
experience for Plan 2/Hybrid; changed 
final retirement age from 75 to 80 for all 
 

Withdrawal Rates 
 

Adjusted rates to better fit experience at 
each age and service decrement through 
9 years of service 
 

Disability Rates No change 
Salary Scale No change 
Discount Rate No change 
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E. VRS Healthcare Credit Insurance and Group Life Insurance OPEB Programs

For the VRS Heath Credit Insurance and OPEB Programs the following changes were made:

provisions since the prior actuarial valuation.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2021, valuation were based 
on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period from July 1, 2016, through June 30, 2020, 

2019. Changes to the actuarial assumptions as a result of the experience study and VRS Board action 
are as follows:

For the VRS Group Life Insurance-Locality Program the following changes were made:

provisions since the prior actuarial valuation.
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Mortality Rates (Pre-retirement, 
post-retirement healthy, and 
disabled) 

Update to PUB2010 public sector mortality 
tables. For future mortality improvements, 
replace load with a modified Mortality 
Improvement Scale MP-2020 
 

Retirement Rates 
 

Adjusted rates to better fit experience for 
Plan 1; set separate rates based on 
experience for Plan 2/Hybrid; changed 
final retirement age from 75 to 80 for all 
 

Withdrawal Rates 
 

Adjusted rates to better fit experience at 
each age and service decrement through 
9 years of service 
 

Disability Rates No change 
Salary Scale No change 
Discount Rate No change 
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The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2021, valuation were 
based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the period from July 1, 2016, through June 

of July 1, 2019. Changes to the actuarial assumptions as a result of the experience study and VRS 
Board action are as follows:
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Alexandria City Public Schools
A Component Unit of the City of Alexandria, Virginia

The Other Supplementary Information subsections include the following:

•

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
(Unaudited)

Strategic Plan Goal - Family and Community Engagement
ACPS will ensure that all families and community members feel 

welcomed, respected and valued.
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FIDUCIARY FUNDS

City Public Schools (ACPS) in a trustee capacity under terms of a formal trust agreement.

• 
full-time employees. It accounts for assets held in trust by Principal Financial Group for ACPS.  

• 

spouses.



Exhibit XIV

Employees' ACPS Total Pension
Supplementary Other Post- and Other

Retirement Employment Employee Benefit
Plan Benefit Trust Trust Funds

Assets
Investments, at fair value

Cash Equivalents -$                         840,946$              840,946$                 
Bonds 75,555,901              13,956,857           89,512,758              
Mutual funds 25,813,420              7,907,746             33,721,166              
Real estate 14,623,322              2,337,546             16,960,868              
Global asset allocation 10,742,372              3,463,558             14,205,930              
Total investments 126,735,015            28,506,653           155,241,668            

Contributions Receivable 358,356                   -                        358,356                   

Total assets 127,093,371$          28,506,653$         155,600,024$          

Net Position

Restricted for pension and
 other employee benefits 127,093,371            28,506,653           155,600,024            

Total net position held in trust 127,093,371$          28,506,653$         155,600,024$          

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

June 30, 2023
Pension and Other Post-Employment Benefit Trust Funds
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Exhibit XV

Employees' ACPS Total Pension
Supplementary Other Post and Other

Retirement Employment Employee Benefit
Plan Benefits Trust Trust Funds

Additions

Contributions

   Employer contributions -$                     1,771,828$           1,771,828$                 
   Employee contributions 3,057,246              -                      3,057,246                   

Total Contributions 3,057,246              1,771,828             4,829,074$                 

Investment Income

  Investment Earnings 4,480,996              11,177                  4,492,173                   
  Net appreciation in fair value of investments -                       2,009,358             2,009,358                   

(40,590)                  -                      (40,590)                      
Net Investment Income/Loss 4,440,406              2,020,535             6,460,941                   

Total additions 7,497,652              3,792,363             11,290,015                 

Deductions

Benefit payments 6,570,526              1,771,828             8,342,354                   
282,544                 24,901                  307,445                      

Total deductions 6,853,070              1,796,729             8,649,799                   

Change in net position 644,582                 1,995,634             2,640,216                   

 Net position - July 1, 2022 126,448,789          26,511,019           152,959,808               

Net position - June 30, 2023 127,093,371$        28,506,653$         155,600,024$             

Alexandria City Public Schools, Virginia
Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023
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Alexandria City Public Schools
A Component Unit of the City of Alexandria, Virginia

STATISTICAL SECTION

This part of the Alexandria City Public Schools Annual Comprehensive Financial Report presents 

health.

Financial Trends

Revenue Capacity

Debt Capacity
This schedule presents information to help the reader assess the 

subscription debt.

Demographic and Economic Information

Operating Information
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader 

relates to the services the School System provides and the activities it 
performs.

Source: 

the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the relevant year. 
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Table 1

Governmental Activities:

Total
Unrestricted Restricted net position

2023 $              $    $     $    

2022                                    

2021                                    

2020                                    

2019                                    

                                   

2017                                      

                                     

2015                                      

2014                                      

Amounts shown are net of any related debt.

Based Information Technology Arrangements in fiscal year 2023.

year 2022.

net position for fiscal year 2020 was restated.

ALEXANDRIA CITY PUBLIC SCHOOLS, VIRGINIA 
Net Position 

Last ten fiscal years

Net investment in 
capital assets

position for fiscal year 2014 was restated.
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Table 7

Fiscal Total General Fund 
Year Principal Interest Lease Payments (1) Expenditures (2)

2023 $      $    $          $    5.92% $   
2022                           1.21%       7.32%      

2021                                     0.23%                    0.00%      

2020                                   0.24%            0.23%      

2019                                   0.24%         0.47%      

                                  0.25%         0.73%      

2017                                           1.00%      

                                                       0.00%                    0.00%      

2015                                                        0.00%                    0.00%      

2014                                                        0.00%                    0.00%      

Source: Alexandria City Public Schools Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports

ALEXANDRIA CITY PUBLIC SCHOOLS, VIRGINIA
Ratios of Lease Payments to Total General Expenditures

Last ten fiscal years

information on ACPS  lease assets and liabilities

See Table 5 for General Fund expenditure details and totals for years indicated.

Total Lease 
Payments as % 

of General 
Expend.

Total Lease Liab. 
as % of General 

Expend.

Total Lease 
Liabilities at 

June 30,
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Table 8

Governmental
Funds Actual  Cost Per   Attendance 

Expenditures Enrollment Pupil 

2023 $               $                                 

2022                                                  

2021                                                  

2020                                                  

2019                                                  

                                                    

2017                                                  

                                                 

2015                                                  

2014                                                  

Source: 

 Alexandria City Public Schools Budget Office
 Alexandria City Public Schools Technology Services Office

expenditures for Capital Projects Fund.

Note: The formula for calculating the cost per pupil considers general operating funds and federal entitlement 

fund. 

ALEXANDRIA CITY PUBLIC SCHOOLS, VIRGINIA
Cost Per Pupil

Last ten fiscal years
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Table 9

Per Number Number Number in
Personal Capita Receiving Receiving English as Number in

Fiscal Income Personal Free or Reduced Unemployment Special a Second Gifted and
Income Rate Education Population Talented 

2023 $      $                 2.2%                                    

2022                            2.4%                                    

2021                                                               

2020                            9.9%                                    

2019                            2.1%                                    

                           2.3%                                    

2017                                                               

                           2.7%                                    
2015                            3.2%                                    
2014                                                               

Source:  School Nutrition Services

 Office of Student Services

Office of Curriculum and Instruction

    for the fiscal years available.

ALEXANDRIA CITY PUBLIC SCHOOLS, VIRGINIA
DEMOGRAPHIC STATISTICS

Last ten fiscal years
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2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Elementary

                                                                             
                                                                             
                                                                             

Total Elementary                                                                              

Secondary
                                                                             

9th Grade                   975                                                                 
10th Grade           917                           991                  973                  937                   
11th Grade           795                                                      919                                        
12th Grade 714          734                      772                                957                                     

Total Secondary                                                                              

Special Placements
79            57             59             49             47                         55             47            52             54             

Grand Total 13,104     13,642      14,224      14,729      15,105     15,540      15,795      16,117     15,635      15,786      

Note: This table is based on the September 30 student membership.

Source: Alexandria City Public Schools Budget Office

Table 10
ALEXANDRIA CITY PUBLIC SCHOOLS

TOTAL STUDENT MEMBERSHIP BY GRADE
Last ten fiscal years
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Table 14

Percentage Percentage
Client Sales Rank of Sales Sales Rank of Sales

Students $      1 $      1 43.7%
        2 24.4%         2 31.5%
        3         3 15.0%

Summer School Feeding Program                     4 0.0%         4
Adult           5           5 3.0%
Vending                     0.0% 573               0.0%
Total $   100.0% $   100.0%

Source: Alexandria City Public Schools School Nutrition Services

Current Year

ALEXANDRIA CITY PUBLIC SCHOOLS, VIRGINIA 
School Nutrition Services Principal Clients

Current year and nine years ago

Nine years Ago

Table 13

Fiscal Student Adult
Elementary

2023 2.00 3.05 3.25 3.25 4.00
2022 1.75 3.05 3.05
2021 1.75 3.05 3.05
2020 1.75 3.05 3.05
2019 1.75 3.05 3.05

1.75 3.05 3.05
2017 1.75

1.75
2015 1.75 2.45 3.40
2014 1.75 2.45 3.30

  

Source: Alexandria City Public Schools School Nutrition Services

ALEXANDRIA CITY PUBLIC SCHOOLS, VIRGINIA
School Nutrition Services Sales Price

Last ten fiscal years
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Table 16

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Instructional Facilities

                         1 1 1 1 1

Elementary Schools 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12

1 1 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 2

5 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Alternative Education 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Vehicles 53 59 57 75

Pupil Transportation

Buses 101 107 107 99 113 119 122 117

Source: Alexandria City Public Schools Accounting and Finance Office

ALEXANDRIA CITY PUBLIC SCHOOLS
Capital Assets Information by Function

Last ten fiscal years

Grade Schools 

managed as a separate school at an exisiting elementary school location led by a principal and supported 
by an assistant principal. 
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Table 17

Number of 
Teachers

Percentage 
of Total

304          

917          

357          

Total        100.0%

Experience
Number of 
Teachers

Percentage 
of Total

          

357          

11 and over           54.50%

Total        100.0%

ALEXANDRIA CITY PUBLIC SCHOOLS, VIRGINIA
TEACHERS' EDUCATION AND EXPERIENCE

June 30, 2023
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Table 18

Fiscal Minimum Mean Maximum Percentage
Year Salary (1) Salary Salary (2) Change (3)

2023 $    $      $         2.9% 

2022                     2.5%

2021                           3.4% 

2020                     0.0%

2019                     2.0%

                    0.0%

2017                     0.0%

                    0.0%

2015                     0.0%

2014                     0.0%
NOTES:

     salary schedule for teachers and paraprofessionals.

     attainment and years of service. 

TEACHERS' BASE SALARIES
(Annual School Year Salary)

Last ten fiscal years

ALEXANDRIA CITY PUBLIC SCHOOLS, VIRGINIA
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

Members of the Board 
Alexandria City Public Schools 
Alexandria, Virginia 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Alexandria City Public 
Schools (ACPS), a component unit of the City of Alexandria, as of and for the year ended June 30, 
2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Alexandria City 
Public Schools’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 15, 
2023. 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Alexandria City Public 
Schools’ internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the 
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
Alexandria City Public Schools’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Alexandria City Public Schools internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 
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Members of the Board 
Alexandria City Public Schools 

 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Alexandria City Public Schools’s financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have 
a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance 
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an 
opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are 
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of This Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 

 
 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Arlington, Virginia 
December 15, 2023 






